Hearing Date: March 27, 2015 J:\MANDATES\2009\TC\09-TC-02 (Sheriff Court Security)\PsGs\TOC.docx

ITEM 6

PROPOSED DECISION

AND

PARAMETERS AND GUIDELINES

Government Code Section 69926(b)

Statutes 2009-2010 (4th Ex. Sess.), Chapter 22 (SB 13)

Sheriff Court-Security Services

09-TC-02

County of Los Angeles, Claimant

Table of Contents

Exhibit A

Test Claim Decision, adopted December 5, 2014	1
Exhibit B	
Draft Expedited Parameters and Guidelines, issued December 12, 2014	54

STATE OF CALIFORNIA

COMMISSION ON STATE MANDATES 980 NINTH STREET, SUITE 300 SACRAMENTO, CA 95814 PHONE: (916) 323-3562 FAX: (916) 445-0278 E-mail: csminfo@csm.ca.gov Exhibit A EDMUND G. BROWN JR., Governor



December 12, 2014

Mr. John Naimo County of Los Angeles, Auditor-Controller 500 West Temple Street, Room 525 Los Angeles, CA 90012 Mr. Ed Jewik County of Los Angeles, Auditor-Controller's Office 500 West Temple Street, Room 603 Los Angeles, CA 90012

And Parties, Interested Parties, and Interested Persons (See Mailing List)

Re: Test Claim Decision, Draft Expedited Parameters and Guidelines, and Notice of Hearing Sheriff Court-Security Services, 09-TC-02 Government Code Section 69926(b) County of Los Angeles, Claimant

Dear Mr. Naimo and Mr. Jewik:

On December 5, 2014, the Commission on State Mandates (Commission) adopted the test claim decision partially approving the above-entitled matter. State law provides that reimbursement, if any, is subject to Commission approval of parameters and guidelines for reimbursement of the mandated program, approval of a statewide cost estimate, a specific legislative appropriation for such purpose, a timely-filed claim for reimbursement, and subsequent review of the claim by the State Controller's Office.

Following is a description of the responsibilities of all parties and of the Commission during the parameters and guidelines phase.

Draft Expedited Parameters and Guidelines. Pursuant to California Code of Regulations, title 2, section 1183.9, the Commission staff is expediting the parameters and guidelines process by enclosing draft parameters and guidelines to assist the claimant. The proposed reimbursable activities are limited to those approved in the decision by the Commission.

<u>Review of Draft Expedited Parameters and Guidelines.</u> Proposed modifications and comments may be filed on staff's draft proposal by **January 2, 2015**. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 2, § 1183.9(c).)

<u>Rebuttals.</u> Written rebuttals may be submitted within 15 days of service of comments. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 2, § 1183.8(f).)

Adoption of Parameters and Guidelines. After review of the draft expedited parameters and guidelines and all proposed modifications and comments, Commission staff will prepare a proposed decision and recommend adoption by the Commission.

Reasonable Reimbursement Methodology and Statewide Estimate of Costs

<u>Test Claimant and Department of Finance Submission of Letter of Intent.</u> Within 30 days of the Commission's adoption of a decision on a test claim, the test claimant and the Department of Finance may notify the executive director of the Commission in writing of their intent to follow the process described in Government Code sections 17557.1–17557.2 and section 1183.11 of the Commission's regulations to develop a *joint reasonable reimbursement methodology* and

Mr. Naimo and Mr. Jewik December 12, 2014 Page 2

statewide estimate of costs for the initial claiming period and budget year for reimbursement of costs mandated by the state. The written notification shall provide all information and filing dates as specified in Government Code section 17557.1(a).

<u>Test Claimant and Department of Finance Submission of Draft Reasonable Reimbursement</u> <u>Methodology and Statewide Estimate of Costs.</u> Pursuant to the plan, the test claimant and the Department of Finance shall submit the *Draft Reasonable Reimbursement Methodology and Statewide Estimate of Costs* to the Commission. See Government Code section 17557.1 for guidance in preparing and filing a timely submission.

<u>Review of Proposed Reasonable Reimbursement Methodology and Statewide Estimate of Costs.</u> Upon receipt of the jointly developed proposals, Commission staff shall notify all recipients that they shall have the opportunity to review and provide written comments concerning the draft reasonable reimbursement methodology and proposed statewide estimate of costs within 15 days of service. The test claimant and Department of Finance may submit written rebuttals to Commission staff.

Adoption of Reasonable Reimbursement Methodology and Statewide Estimate of Costs. At least 10 days prior to the next hearing, Commission staff shall review comments and issue a staff recommendation on whether the Commission should approve the draft reasonable reimbursement methodology and adopt the proposed statewide estimate of costs pursuant to Government Code section 17557.2.

You are advised that comments filed with the Commission are required to be simultaneously served on the other interested parties on the mailing list, and to be accompanied by a proof of service. However, this requirement may also be satisfied by electronically filing your documents. Please see <u>http://www.csm.ca.gov/dropbox.shtml</u> on the Commission's website for instructions on electronic filing. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 2, § 1181.3.) If you would like to request an extension of time to file comments, please refer to section 1187.9(a) of the Commission's regulations.

The parameters and guidelines are set for hearing on March 27, 2015.

Sincerely,

Heather Halsey Executive Director

J:\MANDATES\2009\TC\09-TC-02 (Sheriff Court Security)\Correspondence\TC decision trans.docx

2

BEFORE THE COMMISSION ON STATE MANDATES STATE OF CALIFORNIA

IN RE TEST CLAIM ON: Government Code Sections 69920, 69921, 69921.5, 69922, 69925, 69926, 69927(a)(5)(6) and (b), and 77212.5 Statutes 1998, Chapter 764 (AB 92); Statutes 2002, Chapter 1010 (SB 1396); Statutes 2009-2010, 4th Ex. Sess., Chapter 22 (SB 13) California Rules of Court, Rule 10.810(a), (b), (c), (d) and Function 8 (Court Security), Adopted as California Rule of Court, rule 810

effective July 1, 1988; amended effective July 1, 1989, July 1, 1990, July 1, 1991, and July 1, 1995. Amended and renumbered to Rule 10.810 effective January 1, 2007.

Filed on June 30, 2010, by County of Los Angeles, Claimant Case No.: 09-TC-02

Sheriff Court-Security Services

DECISION PURSUANT TO **GOVERNMENT CODE SECTION 17500** ET SEQ.; CALIFORNIA CODE OF **REGULATIONS, TITLE 2, DIVISION 2,** CHAPTER 2.5. ARTICLE 7.

(Adopted December 5, 2014) (Served December 12, 2014)

DECISION

The Commission on State Mandates (Commission) heard and decided this test claim during a regularly scheduled hearing on December 5, 2014. Ed Jewik appeared for the claimant, County of Los Angeles. Susan Geanacou and Lee Scott appeared for the Department of Finance. Margaret Hastings appeared for the Judicial Council.

The law applicable to the Commission's determination of a reimbursable state-mandated program is article XIII B, section 6 of the California Constitution, Government Code sections 17500 et seq., and related case law.

The Commission adopted the proposed decision to partially approve the test claim at the hearing by a vote of 6 to 0.

Summary of the Findings

This test claim is filed by the County of Los Angeles (claimant) on behalf of counties seeking reimbursement for the cost of retiree health benefits for sheriff employees who provide court security services to the trial courts. Before 2009, the claimant alleges that these costs were funded by the state through the Trial Court Funding Program. The claimant contends that in 2009, the state shifted the cost of retiree health benefits for these employees to the counties and that, pursuant to article XIII B, section 6(c) of the California Constitution and the *Lucia Mar Unified School District* case, reimbursement is required.¹

Article XIII B, section 6(c), was added to the California Constitution in 2004 to expand the definition of a new program or higher level of service as follows:

A mandated new program or higher level of service includes a transfer by the Legislature from the State to cities, counties, cities and counties, or special districts of complete or partial financial responsibility for a required program for which the State previously had complete or partial financial responsibility.

The claimant has pled statutes enacted in 1998, 2002, and 2009, and California Rules of Court, Rule 10.810(a), (b), (c), (d) and Function 8, as added in 1988 and last amended in 2007. Both the Department of Finance (DOF) and Judicial Council of California (Judicial Council) dispute this claim.

The Commission concludes that Government Code section 69926(b), as amended by Statutes 2009-2010 (4th Ex. Sess.), chapter 22, constitutes a reimbursable state-mandated program within the meaning of article XIII B, section 6(c) for the following costs incurred from July 28, 2009, to June 27, 2012, only for those counties that previously billed retiree health benefit costs to the state under the Trial Court Funding Program before January 1, 2003, and only for employees that provide sheriff court security services in criminal and delinquency matters:

- Amounts actually paid in the claimed fiscal year to an insurer, other benefit provider, or trustee to prefund the future retiree health benefit costs earned by county employees in the claimed fiscal year who provided court security services in criminal and delinquency matters pursuant to Government Code section 69922; and
- Amounts actually paid in the claimed fiscal year to an insurer, other benefit provider, or trustee to reduce an existing unfunded liability of the county for the health benefit costs previously earned by county employees who provided court security services in criminal and delinquency matters pursuant to Government Code section 69922.

In addition, revenue received by a county eligible to claim reimbursement from the 2011 Realignment (Gov. Code, §§ 30025, 30027, Stats. 2011, ch. 40) for this program in fiscal year 2011-2012 shall be identified and deducted as offsetting revenue from any claim for reimbursement.

All other statutes, rules, code sections, and allegations pled in this claim are denied.

Government Code section 69926, as amended by Statutes 2009-2010 (4th Ex. Sess.), chapter 22, was repealed to implement the statutory realignment of superior court security funding by Statutes of 2011, chapter 40. Therefore the period of reimbursement for this mandate is from July 28, 2009 to June 27, 2012 only.

¹ Lucia Mar Unified School Dist. v. Honig (1988) 44 Cal.3d 830.

COMMISSION FINDINGS

I. Chronology		
06/30/10	Claimant filed the test claim. ²	
08/16/10	Judicial Council filed comments on the test claim. ³	
08/17/10	DOF filed comments on the test claim. ⁴	
09/15/10	Claimant filed rebuttal comments. ⁵	
03/14/14	Commission staff issued the draft staff analysis and proposed statement of decision. ⁶	
04/03/14	DOF requested an extension of time to file comments and postponement of the hearing.	
04/04/14	Commission staff approved an extension of time to file comments to June 6, 2014 and postponed the hearing to July 25, 2014.	
05/30/14	DOF requested a second extension of time to file comments and postponement of hearing.	
06/04/14	Commission staff approved an extension of time to file comments to August 22, 2014, and postponed the hearing to September 26, 2014.	
08/22/14	DOF filed comments on draft staff analysis and proposed statement of decision. ⁷	
09/14/14	Commission staff issued the proposed decision as Item 3 for the September 26, 2014 Commission hearing. ⁸	
09/25/14	Judicial Council requested a postponement of hearing and an extension of time to file comments on the proposed decision, which was granted for good cause.	
10/16/14	Judicial Council filed comments on the proposed decision. ⁹	
11/19/14	Commission staff issued the proposed decision as Item 3 for the December 5, 2014 Commission hearing.	

² Exhibit A, Test Claim filed June 30, 2010.

³ Exhibit B, Judicial Council of California, Comments on the test claim filed August 16, 2010.

⁴ Exhibit C, Department of Finance, comments on the test claim filed August 17, 2010.

⁵ Exhibit D, Claimant, Rebuttal Comments filed September 15, 2010.

⁶ Exhibit E, draft staff analysis and proposed statement of decision issued March 13, 2014.

⁷ Exhibit F, Department of Finance comments on the draft staff analysis filed August 22, 2014.

⁸ Exhibit H, Proposed Decision issued as item 3 for the September 26, 2014 Commission hearing.

⁹ Exhibit I, Judicial Council, comments on the Proposed Decision filed October 16, 2014.

II. Background

A. Before the Lockyer-Isenberg Trial Court Funding Act of 1997, counties had primary responsibility for funding the operation of trial courts, including expenses relating to court security.

Since at least 1883, counties have been responsible for providing law enforcement security to the trial courts.¹⁰ In 1947, Government Code section 26603 was added by the Legislature to require the sheriff to "attend all superior courts held within his county and obey all lawful orders and directions of all courts held within his county."¹¹ As last amended in 1982, section 26603 stated the following:

Except as otherwise provided by law, whenever required, the sheriff shall attend all superior courts held within his county provided, however, that a sheriff shall attend a civil action only if the presiding judge or his designee makes a determination that the attendance of the sheriff at such action is necessary for reasons of public safety. The sheriff shall obey all lawful orders and directions of all courts held within his county.¹²

Before the 1997 Trial Court Funding Act, counties had primary responsibility for funding the operation of trial courts, including expenses related to all non-judicial court personnel, and all operational and facilities costs of the superior, municipal, and justice courts. The state paid the salaries of superior court judges and retirement benefits of superior and municipal court judges, and funded the appellate courts, the Judicial Council, and the Administrative Office of the Courts (AOC). The arrangement was later found to result in disparate funding among California's 58 counties, leading to potential disparities in the quality of justice across the state.¹³

In 1988, the Brown-Presley Trial Court Funding Act (Stats. 1988, ch. 945) was enacted as a grant program that provided significant state funding for trial courts. Beginning in 1989, counties were authorized to opt into the trial court funding program,¹⁴ and those that did, received state block grants and waived their claims for mandate reimbursement for existing mandates related to trial court operations.¹⁵ The block grants were available to pay for "*court operations*," defined in Government Code section 77003 to include the "salary, benefits, and public agency retirement contributions" for "those marshals and sheriffs as the court deems

¹⁰ See former Political Code, sections 4176 and 4157 (Stats. 1941, ch. 1110, Stats. 1923, ch. 108, Stats. 1897, ch. 277, Stats. 1893, ch. 234, Stats. 1891, ch. 216 and Stats. 1883, ch. 75).

¹¹ Former Government Code section 26603 (Stats. 1947, ch. 424).

¹² Statutes 2002, chapter 1010 (the Superior Court Law Enforcement Act of 2002, SB 1396) repealed section 26603 and reenacted the same requirements in Government Code section 69922.

¹³ Claudia Ortega "The Long Journey to State Funding" California Courts Review, Winter 2009, page 7. (Exhibit G.) See also the legislative findings in Government Code section 77100(c), Statutes 1985, chapter 1607, reenacted in Statutes 1988, chapter 945.

¹⁴ Former Government Code section 77004 defined "option county" as, "a county which has adopted the provisions of this chapter for the current fiscal year."

¹⁵ Former Government Code sections 77203.5 and 77005 (Stats. 1988, ch. 945).

necessary for court operations." In exchange for the block grant funding, counties gave up their fees, fines and penalty revenue. By 1989, all counties opted into the Brown-Presley Trial Court Funding Act.¹⁶

The Judicial Council adopted Rule 810 of the California Rules of Court in 1988 to implement the Brown-Presley Trial Court Funding Act, and to further define "court operations" as provided in Government Code section 77003. In 1995, Rule 810 was amended to its present-day form. Effective January 1, 2007, Rule 810 was renumbered to Rule 10.810 and amended without substantive change.¹⁷ The rule defines "court operations" to include "the salaries and benefits for those sheriff, marshal, and constable employees as the court deems necessary for court operations in superior and municipal courts and the supervisors of those sheriff, marshal, and constable employees the court security function."¹⁸ Function 8 of the rule further states that court security services deemed necessary by the court "includes only the duties of (a) courtroom bailiff (b) perimeter security (i.e., outside the courtroom but inside the court facility), and (c) at least .25 FTE dedicated supervisors of these activities." The allowable costs included in the state block grant are described in Function 8 of the rule as follows:

- Salary, wages, and benefits (including overtime) of sheriff, marshal, and constable employees who perform the court's security, i.e., bailiffs, weapons-screening personnel;
- Salary, wages, and benefits of supervisors of sheriff, marshal, and constable employees whose duties are greater than .25 FTE dedicated to this function;
- Sheriff, marshal, and constable employee training.

Costs *not* included in the state funding include the following: other sheriff, marshal, or constable employees; court attendant training (Function 10)¹⁹; overhead costs attributable to the operation of the sheriff and marshal offices; costs associated with the transportation and housing of detainees from the jail to the courthouse; service of process in civil cases; services and supplies, including data processing, not specified above as allowable; and supervisors of bailiffs and perimeter security personnel of the sheriff, marshal, or constable office who supervise these duties *less than* .25 FTE time.

In 1991, the Trial Court Realignment and Efficiency Act (Stats. 1991, ch. 90) increased state funding for trial courts and streamlined court administration through trial court coordination and

¹⁶ Exhibit G, Claudia Ortega "The Long Journey to State Funding" California Courts Review, Winter 2009, page 9.

¹⁷ The 2007 amendment changed one internal citation in function 11, pertaining to county general services ("indirect costs.")

¹⁸ California Rules of Court, Rule 10.810(a)(3).

¹⁹ A "court attendant" is a non-armed, non-law enforcement employee of the court who performs those functions specified by the court, except those functions that may only be performed by armed and sworn personnel. A court attendant is not a peace officer or public safety officer. (Gov. Code, § 69921.) The court may use a court attendant in courtrooms hearing noncriminal and non-delinquency actions. (Gov. Code, § 69922.)

financial information reporting.²⁰ The state block grants, however, were not enough to cover all trial court costs.²¹ By 1997, counties bore about 60 percent of trial court costs for court operations, as specified, and the state grants funded the remaining 40 percent.²²

B. The Lockyer-Isenberg Trial Court Funding Act of 1997 transferred responsibility for trial court operations, including expenses relating to court security, to the state beginning in fiscal year 1997-1998.

In 1997, the Lockyer-Isenberg Trial Court Funding Act (Stats. 1997, ch. 850) removed the local "opt-in" provisions for trial court funding and transferred principal funding responsibility for trial court operations to the state beginning in fiscal year 1997-1998, freezing county contributions at fiscal year 1994-1995 levels.²³ The Legislature declared its intent in section 3 of the 1997 Act to do the following:

- Provide state responsibility for funding trial court operations beginning in fiscal year 1997-1998.
- Provide that county contributions to trial court operations shall be permanently capped at the same dollar amount as that county provided to court operations in the 1994-1995 fiscal year, with adjustments to the cap, as specified.
- Provide that the state shall assume full responsibility for any growth in costs of trial court operations thereafter.
- Provide that the obligation of counties to contribute to trial court costs shall not be increased in any fashion by state budget action relating to the trial courts.
- Return to counties the revenue generated from fines and forfeitures pursuant to the Government, Vehicle, and Penal Codes to allow counties the opportunity to obtain sufficient revenue to meet their obligation to the state.

In section 2 of the Trial Court Funding Act, the Legislature described the purpose of the law, indicating that the "funding of trial court operations is most logically a function of the state." Section 2 states in relevant part the following:

- (a) The judiciary of California is a separate and independent branch of government, recognized by the Constitution and statutes of this state as such.
- (b) The Legislature has previously established the principle that the funding of trial court operations is most logically a function of the state. Such funding is necessary to provide uniform standards and procedures, economies of scale, and

²⁰ Exhibit G, Judicial Council of California, Administrative Office of the Courts, *Special Report: Trial Court Funding* (1997) page 11.

²¹ Exhibit G, Claudia Ortega "The Long Journey to State Funding" California Courts Review, Winter 2009, page 7.

²² Exhibit G, Assembly Committee on the Judiciary, Analysis of Assembly Bill 233 (1997-1998 Reg. Sess.), as amended March 10, 1997, page 1.

²³ Statutes 1997, chapter 850, section 3.

structural efficiency and simplification. This decision also reflects the fact that the overwhelming business of the trial courts is to interpret and enforce provisions of state law and to resolve disputes among the people of the State of California.

[¶]

- (e) The fiscal health of the judicial system, and the willingness and ability of the judiciary to adopt measures of efficiency and coordination, has a considerable impact on the quality of justice dispensed to the citizens of California.
- (f) It is increasingly clear that the counties of California are no longer able to provide unlimited funding increases to the judiciary and, in some counties, financial difficulties and strain threaten the quality and timeliness of justice.
- (g) The stated intent of the Legislature to assume the largest share of the funding of trial courts has not been achieved, primarily due to the recent recession and the resulting limitation of state funds. However, there is a clear need to proceed as rapidly as possible toward the goal of full state funding of trial court operations and, accordingly, this measure is a logical and necessary step to achieve the result.

The Legislature further declared its intent to continue to define "court operations" as the phrase was then defined on July 1, 1996, by Government Code section 77003 and Rule 810 (defined to include the salaries, wages, and benefits for sheriff personnel providing courtroom bailiff and perimeter security services, and their dedicated supervisors, and employee training) recognizing, however, that issues remained regarding which items of expenditure are properly included in the definition of court operations. The Legislature stated its intent "to reexamine this issue during the 1997-98 fiscal year, in the hopes of reflecting any agreed upon changes in subsequent legislation."²⁴

To implement the 1997 Trial Court Funding Act, Government Code section 68073(a) was amended to state that "Commencing July 1, 1997, and each year thereafter, no county or city and county shall be responsible to provide funding for 'court operations' as defined in Section 77003 and Rule 810 of the California Rules of Court as it read on July 1, 1996."²⁵ In addition, sections 77200 and 77201 were added to the Government Code to provide the following:

- Beginning July 1, 1997, the state shall assume sole responsibility for the funding of court operations as defined in section 77003 and Rule 810 as it read on July 1, 1996, and allocate funds to the individual trial courts pursuant to an allocation schedule adopted by the Judicial Council.
- In the 1997-1998 fiscal year, each county shall remit to the state in four equal installments, amounts identified and expended by the court for court operations during the 1994-1995 fiscal year. This payment is known as the maintenance of effort (MOE)

²⁴ Statutes 1997, chapter 850, section 3(d).

²⁵ In 2002, section 68073 was renumbered to section 70311. Section 70311(a) currently states the following: "Commencing July 1, 1997, and each year thereafter, no county or city and county is responsible to provide funding for "court operations," as defined in Section 77003 and Rule 10.810 of the California Rules of Court, as it read on January 1, 2007."

payment. In addition, each county shall remit a specified amount in fine and forfeiture revenues that the county remitted to the state in fiscal year 1994-1995.

• Except as specifically allowed for adjustments (i.e., if a county incorrectly or failed to report county costs as court operations in the 1994-1995 fiscal year), county remittances shall not be increased in subsequent years.

The Resource Manual on Trial Court Funding prepared by the Judicial Council, dated December 19, 1997, describes these provisions as a "shift of full responsibility to fund trial court operations to the state" as follows:

State solely responsible for funding court operations

• As of the 1997-1998 fiscal year and every year thereafter, the state has the sole responsibility to fund trial "court operations." Prior to this act, the costs of court operations were shared between the state and the counties.

 $[\P]$

• *This shift of full responsibility to the state* was effective July 1, 1997, even though AB 233 is not effective until January 1, 1998 [Emphasis added.]

 $[\P]$

<u>State to fund trial courts</u>

• This section relieves counties of any direct responsibility to fund trial court operation costs, as defined. (Gov. Code, § 77200 *shifts that responsibility to the state*). Instead, the county is obligated to pay to the state an amount based on (1) the amount of county general fund money provided for support of the courts in fiscal year 1994-95 (hereinafter identified as "County General Fund Base Amount") and (2) the amount of specified fine and penalty revenues the county remitted to the state in fiscal year 1994-95 (hereinafter identified as "County Fine Base Amount"). [Emphasis added.]

In addition, the 1997 Act deleted requirements formerly imposed on the counties to report and provide for the administration and operation of the courts. The requirement for counties to submit a report to the Judicial Council regarding trial court revenues and expenditures was deleted and, instead, the courts are now required to provide that report.²⁷ The Act also repealed provisions requiring the county auditor to conduct a biennial audit of the trial court accounts, and shifted the authority to audit the accounts to the State Controller's Office (SCO).²⁸ Beginning July 1, 1997, the county was authorized to charge the trial courts for all county services provided to the court, "including but not limited to: auditor/controller services, coordination of telephone services, data-processing and information technology services, procurement, human resources

²⁶ Exhibit G, Judicial Council of California, Resource Manual on Trial Court Funding, dated December 19, 1997, at pages 48-49.

²⁷ Government Code section 68113, as amended by Statutes 1997, chapter 850, section 33.

²⁸ Government Code sections 71383 and 77009, as added and amended by Statutes 1997, chapter 850, sections 34 and 44.

services, affirmative action services, treasurer/tax collector services, county counsel services, facilities management, and legal representation."²⁹ Beginning in fiscal year 1998-1999, "the county may give notice to the court that the county will no longer provide a specific service," and the court may provide a similar notice that it no longer intends to use specified services formerly provided by the county.³⁰

The Act further required each county to establish in the county treasury a new Trial Court Operations Fund to operate as a special fund. All funds appropriated in the State Budget Act and allocated to each court in the county by the Judicial Council shall be deposited into the fund. Expenditures made from the Trial Court Operations Fund shall be authorized by the presiding judge, or a designee, and no longer require the approval of the county board of supervisors. The funds may only be used for "court operations," as defined Government Code sections 77003, which as stated above, includes the salary, wages, and benefits of sheriff employees providing security services to the courts. Counties may bill the trial courts for the direct and indirect costs attributable to court operations.³¹

The Act then requires the Judicial Council, with the concurrence of the DOF and the SCO, to establish procedures to provide for the payment of expenses for trial court operations beginning July 1, 1997.³² The Judicial Council and its administrative body, the AOC, were given responsibility for financial oversight of the trial courts pursuant to Government Code sections 77202-77208.³³ Under these provisions, the Legislature is required to make an annual appropriation to the Judicial Council for support of the trial courts that meets the needs of the trial courts "in a manner that promotes equal access to courts statewide." The Judicial Council is then required to allocate the funding to the trial courts in a manner that ensures their ability to carry out their functions, promotes implementation of statewide policies, and promotes efficiencies and cost saving measures in court operations, "in order to guarantee access to justice."³⁴ The SCO apportions trial court payments quarterly based on the Judicial Council's allocation schedule.³⁵

Beginning in fiscal year1998-1999, the state's funding of trial court operations was governed by Government Code section 77201.1. That section provides counties additional relief by reducing their MOE payments for court operations.³⁶ As a result, the MOE payments for counties with a population of less than 70,000 were reduced to \$0; the state paid the costs of all court operations in those counties. Only 20 of the largest counties were required to make MOE payments for court operations at a reduced rate. By fiscal year 1999-2000, the MOE payment for the claimant,

²⁹ Government Code section 77212(a), as added by Statutes 1997, chapter 850, section 46.

³⁰ Government Code section 77212(b), as added by Statutes 1997, chapter 850, section 46,

³¹ Government Code section 77009, as added by Statutes 1997, chapter 850, section 44.

³² *Ibid*.

³³ Statutes 1997, chapter 850, section 47.

³⁴ Government Code section 77202, as added by Statutes 1997, chapter 850, section 47.

³⁵ Government Code section 77207, as added by Statutes 1997, chapter 850, section 47.

³⁶ Government Code section 77201.1, as added by Statutes 1997, chapter 850, section 46.

County of Los Angeles, was reduced from \$291,872,379 to \$175,330,647.³⁷ County payments from fine and forfeiture revenues were also reduced in fiscal year 1998-1999.³⁸

C. Sheriff court security costs were treated as a component of court operations under the Trial Court Funding Program.

One year after the Lockyer-Isenberg Trial Court Funding Act, Government Code section 77212.5 (Stats. 1998, ch. 764) was enacted to address the scope and type of security services the sheriff's department would provide. Specifically, section 77212.5 provides as follows:

Commencing on July 1, 1999, and thereafter, the trial courts of each county in which court security services are otherwise required by law to be provided by the sheriff's department shall enter into an agreement with the sheriff's department that was providing court security services as of July 1, 1998, regarding the provision of court security services.

The statute was enacted to clarify that county sheriffs would continue to provide deputies for the trial court security program under contract. The Assembly Floor Analysis for the 1998 statute states the following:

This bill clarifies that the status quo shall be maintained where the sheriff's department currently provides security services (e.g., bailiffs) to the trial courts as of July 1, 1998. The supporters of this bill are concerned that under current trial court funding law it is unclear how security services shall be provided. This bill requires county sheriffs to continue to provide deputies for trial court security under contract.

Currently county sheriffs provide security services for trial courts in 53 counties. Marshals provide security as court employees in the remaining five counties. The trial courts that employ Marshals are not required to hire sheriffs under this bill.

Currently state appellate courts are funded by the state and security is provided by the California Highway Patrol.

Supporters assert that the bill would ensure a continuity of public safety services in California trial courts.³⁹

In 1999, Government Code section 77212.5 was amended to address those five counties (San Bernardino, Orange, San Diego, Shasta, and Merced) in which court security services were provided by the marshal's office rather than sheriff deputies. Historically, court security for

³⁷ Statutes 1998, chapter 406.

³⁸ Government Code section 77201.1, as added by Statutes 1997, chapter 850, section 46.

³⁹ Exhibit G, Assembly Floor Analysis, Concurrence in Senate Amendments, Analysis of AB 92 as amended August 27, 2008, page 1. See also, Senate Rules Committee, Office of Senate Floor Analyses, Analysis of AB 92, as amended August 27, 1998 (1997-1998 Reg. Sess.) page 1, which states that the bill reflected an agreement that security services would not transfer from the counties to the California Highway Patrol (which would provide security if the state supplied the personnel). The bill was deemed a codification of existing practice.

superior courts was provided by the sheriff's department and security for municipal courts was provided by the marshal's office. With trial court unification combining superior and municipal court functions, most trial courts consolidated court security services with the sheriff's department. The 1999 statute allows those counties to abolish the marshal's office and transfer the court security duties from the marshal's office to the sheriff's department. Subdivision (b) was added to section 77212.5 to state the following: "Commencing on July 1, 1999, and thereafter, the trial courts of a county in which court security was provided by the marshal's office as of July 1, 1998, shall, if the marshal's office is abolished, enter into agreement regarding the provision of court security services with the successor sheriff's department."⁴⁰

Statutes 2002, chapter 1010, enacted the Superior Court Law Enforcement Act of 2002, which was sponsored by the Judicial Council and the California State Sheriffs Association to clarify the court operations and security costs paid by the state. A letter from the Judicial Council urging the Governor to sign the bill stated the following:

California Rules of Court, Rule 810, function 8 defines allowable and unallowable state costs for court security, but the details are ambiguous. For example, the rule says that equipment is an allowable cost, but it does not specify what type of equipment. Because Rule 810 does not provide specificity in the areas of equipment and personnel costs, it has been subject to different interpretations across the state.⁴¹

The 2002 Act addressed the lack of clarity in Function 8 of former Rule 810 through the concept of a "contract law enforcement template," defining the template in Government Code section 69921(a) as "a document that is contained in the Administrative Office of the Courts' financial policies and procedures manual that accounts for and further defines allowable costs, as described in paragraphs (3) to (6), inclusive, of subdivision (a) of Section 69927." Government Code section 69927(a) states the Legislature's intent for the Act to develop a definition of the court security component of court operations and identify allowable law enforcement security costs under the Trial Court Funding Program. The statute further states that it not the legislative intent that a sheriff's law enforcement budget be reduced. Government Code section 69927(a) states the following:

It is the intent of the Legislature in enacting this section to develop a definition of the court security component of court operations that modifies Function 8 of Rule 810 of the California Rules of Court in a manner that will standardize billing and accounting practices and court security plans, and identify allowable law enforcement security costs after the operative date of this article. It is not the intent of the Legislature to increase or decrease the responsibility of a county for the cost of court operations, as defined in Section 77003 or Rule 810 of the

⁴⁰ Statutes 1999, chapter 641 (SB 1196). Today, the sheriff departments in all counties, except Shasta and Trinity Counties, provide security services to the courts. (Exhibit B, Judicial Council of California, comments on the test claim filed August 16, 2010.)

⁴¹ Exhibit B, Judicial Council of California, comments on the test claim filed August 16, 2010, Exhibit 9. A similar letter to the Governor from the California State Sheriffs Association is provided as Exhibit 10 to the Judicial Council comments.

California Rules of Court, as it read on July 1, 1996, for court security services provided prior to January 1, 2003. It is the intent of the Legislature that a sheriff or marshal's court law enforcement budget not be reduced as a result of this article. Any new court security costs permitted by this article shall not be operative unless the funding is provided by the Legislature.

Section 69927(a)(1) (Stats. 2002, ch. 1010) requires the Judicial Council to adopt a rule establishing a working group on court security. The working group is required to recommend modifications to the template used to determine which security costs may be submitted by the courts to the AOC for payment. Section 69927(a)(1) further states that the template *replaces* the definition of law enforcement costs in Function 8 of Rule 810 of the California Rules of Court as follows: "[t]he template shall be a part of the trial court's financial policies and procedures manual and used *in place of* the definition of law enforcement costs in Function 8 of 80927(a)(5) defines the allowable costs for security personnel services to be included in the template and, for the first time, identifies examples of allowable benefits as follows:

"Allowable costs for security personnel services," as defined in the contract law enforcement template, means the salary and benefits of an employee, *including*, *but not limited to*, county health and welfare, county incentive payments, deferred compensation plan costs, FICA or Medicare, general liability premium costs, leave balance payout commensurate with an employee's time in court security services as a proportion of total service credit earned after January 1, 1998, premium pay, retirement, state disability insurance, unemployment insurance costs, worker's compensation paid to an employee in lieu of salary, worker's compensation premiums of supervisory security personnel through the rank of captain, line personnel, inclusive of deputies, court attendants, contractual law enforcement services, prisoner escorts within the courts, and weapons screening personnel, court required training, and overtime and related benefits of law enforcement supervisory and line personnel.

Statutes 2002, chapter 1010, also repealed Government Code section 77212.5, which required the court and the sheriff or marshal to enter into an agreement for the provision of court security services. In its place, Government Code section 69926 was enacted to require the superior court and the sheriff or marshal's department to enter into an annual or multi-year memorandum of understanding specifying the agreed upon level of court security services, cost of services, and terms of payment. By April 30 of each year, the sheriff or marshal shall provide information as identified in the contract law enforcement template to the superior court in that county specifying the nature, extent, and basis of costs, including negotiated and projected salary increases for the following budget year. Actual court security allocations shall be subject to the approval of the Judicial Council and the funding provided by the Legislature.⁴² AOC shall use the actual salary and benefit costs approved for court law enforcement personnel as of June 30 of each year in determining the funding request that will be presented to DOF.⁴³ Any new security cost

⁴² Government Code section 69926(c).

⁴³ Government Code section 69927(a)(1)(5)(A).

categories identified by the sheriff or marshal that are not identified in the template "shall not be operative unless the funding is provided by the Legislature."⁴⁴

The Judicial Council adopted the contract law enforcement template, effective May 1, 2003.⁴⁵ Section I of template identifies the following allowable court security costs: court security personnel approved in the budget or provided at special request of the court; salary, wages and benefits (including overtime as specified) of sheriff, marshal, constable employees including, but not limited to, bailiffs, holding cell deputies, and weapons screening personnel; salary, wages and benefits of court security supervisors who spend more than 25 percent of their time on court security functions; and negotiated and projected salary increases. Allowable benefits are listed in section III, the addendum of the template as follows:

BENEFIT: This is the list of the allowable employer-paid labor-related employee benefits.

County Health & Welfare (Benefit Plans)

County Incentive Payments (PIP)

Deferred Compensation Plan Costs

FICA/Medicare

General Liability Premium Costs

Leave Balance Payout

Premium Pay (such as POST pay, location pay, Bi-lingual pay, training officer pay)

Retirement

State Disability Insurance (SDI)

Unemployment Insurance Cost

Workers Comp Paid to Employee in lieu of salary

Workers Comp Premiums

Section II of the template contains the list of 23 non-allowable costs as follows: other sheriff or marshal employees (not working in the court); county overhead cost attributable to the operation of the sheriff/marshal offices; departmental overhead of sheriffs and marshals that is not in the

⁴⁴ Government Code section 69927(a). Exhibit G, Trial Court Financial Policies and Procedures (FIN 14.01, 6.2 Allowable Costs) adopted by the Judicial Council effective September 1, 2010, states the procedure as follows: "The court is responsible only for allowable cost categories that were properly billed before the enactment of the Superior Court Law Enforcement Act of 2002. The sheriff may not bill the court for any new allowable cost categories listed herein until the court has agreed to the new cost and new funding has been allocated to the court for this purpose."

⁴⁵ Exhibit B, Judicial Council of California, comments on the test claim filed August 16, 2010, Exhibit 13.

list of Section I allowable costs; service and supplies, including data processing, not specified in Section I; furniture; basic training for new personnel to be assigned to court; transportation and housing of detainees from the jail to the courthouse; vehicle costs used by court security personnel in the transport of prisoners to court; the purchase of new vehicles to be utilized by court security personnel; vehicle maintenance exceeding the allowable mileage reimbursement; transportation of prisoners between the jails and courts or between courts; supervisory time and costs where service for the court is less than 25percent of the time on duty; costs of supervision higher than the level of Captain; service of process in civil cases; security outside of the courtroom in multi-use facilities which results in disproportionate allocation of cost; any external security costs (i.e., security outside court facility, such as perimeter patrol and lighting); extraordinary security costs (e.g., general law enforcement activities within court facilities and protection of judges away from the court); overtime used to staff another function within the sheriff's office if an employee in that function is transferred to court security to maintain necessary coverage; construction or remodeling of holding cells; maintenance of holding facility equipment; facilities alteration or other than normal installation in support of perimeter security equipment; video arraignment equipment; costs of workers compensation/disability payments to disabled sheriff or marshal employees who formerly provided security, while the full costs of those positions continue to be funded by the courts.

On July 10, 2003, the AOC and the California State Sheriff's Association prepared a memorandum of responses to court security questions submitted at the "SB 1396" (2002 Superior Court Law Enforcement Act) training sessions. On page 4 of the document is the following question presented by attendees: "Is the payment of premiums for lifetime health benefits in retirement an allowable cost?" The answer provided states the following: "Yes. Payment of retirement benefits, such as health insurance should be locally negotiated."⁴⁶

In 2006, requests for security funding from the trial courts for fiscal year 2006-2007 increased by \$44 million, eleven percent over the previous fiscal year. According to a report from the AOC to the Judicial Council, dated October 18, 2006, the amount requested was "well in excess of the amount of funding available to address mandatory security cost changes in FY 2006-2007." Thus, the AOC sent surveys to the trial courts that required more detailed information on salary, retirement, and benefit costs of court security personnel, and it became apparent that some counties included retiree health benefit costs in the amounts reported. The AOC took the position that "all items that are not SB 1396 [Superior Court Law Enforcement Act of 2002] allowable were eliminated," and that retiree health care benefits were non-allowable costs and, thus, the AOC deducted those costs from the requests for funding.⁴⁷ The Judicial Council adopted the staff recommendation on October 20, 2006.⁴⁸

⁴⁶ Exhibit B, Judicial Council of California, comments on the test claim filed August 16, 2010, Exhibit 12.

⁴⁷ Exhibit B, Judicial Council of California, comments on the test claim filed August 16, 2010, Exhibit 14.

⁴⁸ Exhibit B, Judicial Council of California, comments on the test claim filed August 16, 2010, Exhibit 15 (Letter from the Los Angeles Superior Court to the Administrative Director of the Courts, dated January 10, 2007).

A number of trial courts took issue with the disallowance of sheriff retiree health benefits from the cost of court operations paid by the state. In January 2007, the Superior Court of Los Angeles County sent a letter to the Administrative Director of the Courts, addressing the shortfall in funding as follows:

According to AOC management, the inclusion of Retiree Health is "Not appropriate as part of the mid-step salary calculation." Our analysis (Attachment 1) shows the exclusion of the Retiree Health percentage from the reimbursement rates results in a \$3.9 million reduction in our total security request.

Accordingly, the Court intends to adjust the Sheriff's monthly billing to exclude the Retiree Health costs included in its billings. Because the Court has already reimbursed through November 30, 2006, the December billing will include a lump-sum adjustment retroactive to July 1, 2006.

At the last Trial Court Budget Working Group meeting, concerns were expressed by this Court and a number of other trial courts that Retiree Health may have been included in the MOE [maintenance of effort payment of the county]. AOC staff indicated that if Courts could substantiate this claim, funding of this item might have to continue. Our review of this matter identified the attached document (Attachment II), which clearly shows Retiree Health costs were included in the deputy and sergeant rates in FY 1994-95. It is likely that the County will contest this adjustment based on this fact. It is our contention that the cost of Retiree Health should be restored as part of the security budget.

$[\P]$

Further reductions in LASC's security operation would seriously impact the Court's security structure. We have discussed this matter with the Sheriff's Department but do not foresee an easy solution. In meetings with the Sheriff's staff, we have been advised that these reductions may violate not only our preexisting contractual obligations, but also the provisions of the Superior Court Law Enforcement Act of 2002 that require funding to be sought on the basis of actual costs, and which prohibit changes in standards and guidelines that increase a County's obligations for Court operations costs or reduce a Sheriff's law enforcement budget. We fully expect that the Sheriff may initiate litigation concerning these matters and want to take this opportunity to apprise you of this possibility.⁴⁹

The Administrative Director of the Courts responded on January 30, 2007, stating the following:

First, I believe that the sheriff's post-retirement health costs should be considered for approval as a specific cost pursuant to the procedures established in the Government Code (i.e., Working Group on Court Security should review and recommend that the Judicial Council amend the template, the Council approve the amendment and the legislative and executive branches approve the funding). If

⁴⁹ *Ibid*.

these are new costs which have been incurred after 2002, these costs would not be allowable until the executive and legislative branches have adjusted the base budgets of the courts to reflect the new costs. If the legislative and executive branches agree to assume responsibility for these costs, the manner by which they are calculated may be determined by how the legislative and executive branches address the implication of new accounting standards.

Notwithstanding the above process, the payment of retirement health insurance cost for the sheriff's security personnel are authorized if expenditures were included in the Counties Maintenance of Effort Payment (MOE) (which was established after the state assumed responsibility for state funding on January 1, 1998), if the court has paid these costs since that time, and if no new method of cost calculation has been adopted which would have the effect of expanding financial liability. As would be true with any financial obligation, the means of calculating the retirement health insurance cost should be periodically reviewed to ensure that the methodology and calculation is representative of actual costs incurred. Again, the method of calculating such retirement health care costs may be affected by how the legislative and executive branches address the implications of new accounting standards. You have provided documentation dated May 10, 1995 (the base year for calculating the county MOE for state funding) explaining how the county determined the costs of security personnel. Please provide the documentation on the amount in the county MOE dedicated to this cost, documentation that these costs have been paid for all past years, and a schedule of the base funding in your budget for this cost for the years from FY 1999-2000 to FY 2005-06.⁵⁰

Five superior courts (Los Angeles, Contra Costa, Kern, Sacramento, and Santa Clara counties) submitted documentation that they paid the sheriff for the costs of retiree health benefits in the base year 1994-1995. Based on the documentation, the Judicial Council reimbursed these five courts for the costs of sheriff retiree health benefits in fiscal year 2008-2009. The report prepared for the Judicial Council by the AOC on October 8, 2008, notes the one-time funding to these counties and also states that the funding issue for retiree health benefits continues to be pursued as follows:

Court security retiree health costs of \$4.98 million have historically been included in maintenance of effort (MOE) contracts for five courts since before the passage of state trial court funding. These five courts have been billed for these costs by the sheriff and have paid for them. The courts have not been funded for these costs the past two years, but the proposal is to use one-time funding from the TCTF and one-time security carryover funding to address these costs in FY 2008-2009, while full state funding to address this issue continues to be pursued.⁵¹

⁵⁰ Exhibit B, Judicial Council of California, comments on the test claim filed August 16, 2010, Exhibit 16.

⁵¹ Exhibit B, Judicial Council of California, comments on the test claim filed August 16, 2010, Exhibit 17.

D. The 2009 test claim statute excludes the cost of retiree health benefits for sheriff employees performing security services for the trial courts from the cost of "court operations" paid by the state beginning July 28, 2009.

The 2009 test claim statute (Stats. 2009-2010, 4th Ex. Sess, ch. 22) was a court omnibus budget trailer bill enacted as an urgency statute effective July 28, 2009, in light of the Governor's declaration of a fiscal emergency.⁵² In amending Government Code sections 69926(b), it specified allowable benefit costs for court security personnel and expressly *excluded* retiree health benefits from costs of services payable by the state for court operations. It also defined retiree health benefits that are now excluded to include, but not be limited to, the current costs of future retiree health benefits for either currently employed or already retired personnel. The 2009 statute added the following underlined language to section 69926(b):

The superior court and the sheriff or marshal shall enter into an annual or multiyear memorandum of understanding specifying the agreed upon level of court security services, costs of services, and terms of payment. The cost of services specified in the memorandum of understanding shall be based on the estimated average cost of salary and benefits for equivalent personnel classifications in that county, not including overtime pay. *In calculating the average cost of benefits, only those benefits listed in paragraph (6) of subdivision (a) of Section 69927 shall be included. For purposes of this article, "benefits" excludes any item not expressly listed in this subdivision, including, but not limited to, any costs associated with retiree health benefits. As used in this subdivision, retiree health benefits includes, but is not limited to, the current cost of health benefits for already retired personnel and any amount to cover the costs of future retiree health benefits for either currently employed or already retired personnel. (Emphasis added.)*

The 2009 statute also amended Government Code section 69927(a)(6)(A) as follows: "(A) The Administrative Office of the Courts shall use the actual average salary and benefits costs approved for court law enforcement personnel as of June 30 of each year in determining the funding request that will be presented to the Department of Finance."

III. Positions of the Parties and Interested Parties

A. Claimant's Position

The claimant alleges that the test claim statutes and Rule of Court 10.810 impose a reimbursable state-mandated program under article XIII B, section 6 for the costs of retiree health benefits for sheriff personnel who provide security services to superior courts. According to claimant, on July 28, 2009, the state stopped paying for retiree health benefits for these personnel thereby shifting the costs from the state to the counties in violation of the *Lucia Mar Unified School Dist*. case and article XIII B, section 6(c).⁵³ Claimant includes a declaration with the test claim that estimates the costs of its retiree health benefits at \$4,813,476 for 2009-2010, and \$4,890,183 for

⁵² Exhibit G, Senate Floor Analysis, Senate Bill 13, 2009-2010 Fourth Extraordinary Session, July 8, 2009.

⁵³ Lucia Mar Unified School Dist. v. Honig (1988) 44 Cal.3d 830.

2010-2011. Claimant also includes cost estimates from the counties of Sacramento, Santa Clara, and Kern. Sacramento County estimated costs of \$192,517 for 2009-2010, and \$160,892 for 2010-2011. Kern County estimated costs of \$69,463 for both 2009-2010, and 2010-2011. Santa Clara County estimated costs of \$455,915 for 2009-2010, and \$582,768 for 2010-2011. This accounts for four of the five counties affected by the 2009 test claim statute that were reimbursed for retiree health benefits for personnel who provided court security services in fiscal year 2008-2009, as described above in section II. Background.⁵⁴

Claimant rebuts the Judicial Council's observation that no state law requires the county to pay for retiree health benefits. "All that is required, according to the State Controller's Office "Local Agencies Mandated Cost Manual," is that the '... compensation paid and the benefits received are appropriately authorized by the governing board.' And this has been done." Claimant also disagrees with DOF's position that the test claim statutes do not result in a reimbursable statemandated program.⁵⁵

The claimant did not file comments on the draft proposed decision.

B. Department of Finance Position

DOF argues that this test claim should be denied. DOF states that it "believes the state did not transfer the costs of the retiree health benefits to the counties, and the test claim is not a reimbursable mandate." DOF points out that unlike the case of *Lucia Mar Unified School Dist. v. State of California*, the state was not previously responsible for the retiree health benefits. DOF also states that "costs of the retiree health benefits were not explicitly included in the definition of 'costs of service' in any of the statutory requirements plead by the claimant." Accordingly, DOF argues that the obligation to pay for retiree health benefits is "permissive and not required by law."⁵⁶

DOF filed comments on the draft proposed decision, disagreeing with the staff analysis and arguing that the test claim should be denied for the following reasons:

- The test claim statute does not impose a state-mandated program. Providing retiree health care benefits for sheriff court security employees, is not a program required by the state.
- The test claim statute did not shift fiscal responsibility for funding retiree health benefits from the state to local government. While the state paid the costs of retiree health benefits for a period of time, "it did so voluntarily and absent any legal obligation to do so." Thus, DOF asserts, "the claim should be denied because there is no transfer of fiscal responsibility for a required program."
- Counties imposed the contractual obligation to pay vested retiree benefits on themselves, citing *State ex rel. Pension Obligation Bond Com. v. All Persons Interested etc.* (2007) 152 Cal.App.4th 1386, 1406, which found the "the fact that the state has a contractual

⁵⁴ Exhibit A, Test Claim filed June 30, 2010.

⁵⁵ Exhibit D, Claimant, Rebuttal Comments filed September 15, 2010.

⁵⁶ Exhibit C, Department of Finance, comments on the test claim filed August 17, 2010.

obligation to maintain pension benefits does not mean the obligation is one imposed on the state by law. Rather, ... it is an obligation the Legislature imposed on itself."

- The counties' discretion to prefund retiree health benefits, or not, determines whether the costs are reimbursable. This local policy decision inappropriately places the ability to receive mandate reimbursement within local control if the benefit costs are otherwise eligible for mandate reimbursement.
- If the test claim is approved, the SCO may be required to assess the vested nature of the benefits for which reimbursement is sought. The vested nature of the benefits is complicated, fact intensive, and cannot be assumed.⁵⁷

C. Judicial Council Position

The Judicial Council argues that this test claim should be denied for the following reasons:

- The 2009 amendment to Government Code section 69926(b) excluding retiree health benefits from allowable costs merely clarifies existing law for what costs are allowable when a sheriff provides court security services.
- There is no state law requiring the sheriff to pay retiree health benefits to its deputies. Thus, any transfer of costs is triggered by a discretionary decision of the county.
- Even if the costs were not voluntary, increases in costs, as opposed to increases in the level of service, do not result in a reimbursable state-mandated program.
- The claimant has requested legislative mandates that the sheriff be required to provide security to the superior courts and, thus, no reimbursement is required.
- The claimant cannot claim reimbursement for expenses associated with retiree health benefits for sheriff deputies who are already retired and not currently providing services to the courts. The Superior Court Law Enforcement Act of 2002, in Government Code section 69927(a)(6) only authorizes trial courts to pay for benefits of current employees ("Allowable costs for security personnel services, … means the salary and benefits of an employee ……").⁵⁸

The Judicial Council also joins in the comments submitted by Finance.⁵⁹

IV. Discussion

Article XIII B, section 6 of the California Constitution provides in relevant part the following:

Whenever the Legislature or any state agency mandates a new program or higher level of service on any local government, the state shall provide a subvention of funds to reimburse such local government for the costs of such programs or increased level of service.

⁵⁷ Exhibit F, Department of Finance, comments on the draft staff analysis filed August 22, 2014.

⁵⁸ Exhibit B, Judicial Council, Comments on the Test Claim filed August 16, 2010.

⁵⁹ Exhibit I, Judicial Council, Comments on Proposed Decision filed October 16, 2014.

The purpose of article XIII B, section 6 is to "preclude the state from shifting financial responsibility for carrying out governmental functions to local agencies, which are 'ill equipped' to assume increased financial responsibilities because of the taxing and spending limitations that articles XIII A and XIII B impose."⁶⁰ Thus, the subvention requirement of section 6 is "directed to state-mandated increases in the services provided by [local government] …"⁶¹

Reimbursement under article XIII B, section 6 is required when the following elements are met:

- 1. A state statute or executive order requires or "mandates" local agencies or school districts to perform an activity.⁶²
- 2. The mandated activity either:
 - a. Carries out the governmental function of providing a service to the public; or
 - b. Imposes unique requirements on local agencies or school districts and does not apply generally to all residents and entities in the state.⁶³
- 3. The mandated activity is new when compared with the legal requirements in effect immediately before the enactment of the test claim statute or executive order and it increases the level of service provided to the public.⁶⁴
- 4. The mandated activity results in the local agency or school district incurring increased costs. Increased costs, however, are not reimbursable if an exception identified in Government Code section 17556 applies to the activity.⁶⁵

In 2004, article XIII B, section 6 was amended by the voter's approval of Proposition 1A, which added subdivision (c) to define a mandated new program or higher level of service to include "a transfer by the Legislature from the State to cities, counties, cities and counties, or special districts of complete or partial financial responsibility for a required program for which the State previously had complete or partial financial responsibility."⁶⁶

⁶⁰ County of San Diego v. State of California (1997)15 Cal.4th 68, 81.

- ⁶¹ County of Los Angeles v. State of California (1987) 43 Cal.3d 46, 56.
- ⁶² San Diego Unified School Dist. v. Commission on State Mandates (2004) 33 Cal.4th 859, 874.

⁶³ San Diego Unified School Dist., supra, 33 Cal.4th at pgs. 874-875 (reaffirming the test set out in County of Los Angeles v. State of California (1987) 43 Cal.3d 46, 56.

⁶⁴ San Diego Unified School Dist., supra, 33 Cal.4th 859, 874-875, 878; Lucia Mar Unified School Dist., supra, 44 Cal.3d 830, 835.

⁶⁵ County of Fresno v. State of California (1991) 53 Cal.3d 482, 487; County of Sonoma v. Commission on State Mandates (2000) 84 Cal.App.4th 1265, 1284; Government Code sections 17514 and 17556.

⁶⁶ Proposition 1A, November 2004.

The Commission is vested with exclusive authority to adjudicate disputes over the existence of state-mandated programs within the meaning of article XIII B, section 6.⁶⁷ The determination whether a statute or executive order imposes a reimbursable state-mandated program is a question of law.⁶⁸ In making its decisions, the Commission must strictly construe article XIII B, section 6, and not apply it as an "equitable remedy to cure the perceived unfairness resulting from political decisions on funding priorities."⁶⁹

A. The Commission does not have jurisdiction over the 1998 and 2002 statutes or the California Rules of Court, Rule 10.810(a), (b), (c), (d) and Function 8 (Court Security).

There is no issue regarding the Commission's jurisdiction over Government Code section 69926 and 69927, as amended by Statutes 2009 (4th Ex. Sess.) chapter 22. The test claim was filed June 30, 2010, within one year of July 28, 2009, the effective date of this test claim statute.

The test claim, however, was filed beyond the statute of limitations for the remaining statutes and Rules of Court pled.

Government Code section 17551(c) requires that: "Local agency and school district test claims shall be filed not later than 12 months following the effective date of a statute or executive order, or within 12 months of incurring increased costs as a result of a statute or executive order, whichever is later."⁷⁰ Section 1183 of the Commission's regulations defines the phrase "within 12 months" of incurring costs to mean "by June 30 of the fiscal year following the fiscal year in which increased costs were first incurred by the test claimant."

The test claim in this case was filed on June 30, 2010, well beyond 12 months following the effective dates of Statutes 1998, chapter 764 (adding or amending Gov. Code § 77212.5, eff. Jan. 1, 1999), Statutes 2002, chapter 1010 (adding or amending Gov. Code, §§ 69920, 69921, 69921.5, 69922, 69925, and 69927, eff. Jan. 1, 2003), and Rule 10.810, as added in 1988 and last amended in 1997. In addition, there is no evidence in the record to support a finding that the claimant first incurred increased costs as a result of Statutes 1998, chapter 764, Statutes 2002, chapter 1010, or the Rules of Court as last amended in 1997, later than the 12-month period after these laws became effective.

The test claim primarily alleges increased state-mandated costs stemming from Government Code section 69926, as amended by Statutes 2009 (4th Ex. Sess.) chapter 22, which excluded retiree health benefits from the costs paid by the state for the sheriff court security services component of "court operations." According to claimant: "This test claim was timely filed within a year of enactment of SB 13 (Chapter 22, Statutes of 2009) which shifted the costs of retiree health benefits from the State to the County on July 28, 2009."⁷¹

⁶⁷ *Kinlaw v. State of California* (1991) 54 Cal.3d 326, 331-334; Government Code sections 17551 and 17552.

⁶⁸ County of San Diego, supra, 15 Cal.4th 68, 109.

⁶⁹ County of Sonoma, supra, 84 Cal.App.4th 1265, 1280, citing City of San Jose v. State of California (1996) 45 Cal.App.4th 1802, 1817.

⁷⁰ Government Code, section 17551(c) (Stats. 2004, ch. 890) effective Jan. 1, 2005.

⁷¹ Exhibit A, Test Claim filed June 30, 2010, page 17.

Moreover, Rules of Court are not subject to the reimbursement requirement of article XIII B, section 6. Rules of Court are adopted by the Judicial Council, an agency within the judicial branch, and establish procedures and rules for the courts.⁷² Article XIII B, section 6, however, applies to mandates imposed by "the Legislature or any state agency" and does not extend to requirements imposed by the judicial branch of government.⁷³

Accordingly, the Commission does not have jurisdiction over Statutes 1998, chapter 764 (adding or amending Government Code section 77212.5, eff. Jan. 1, 1999), Statutes 2002, chapter 1010 (adding or amending Gov. Code, §§ 69920, 69921, 69921.5, 69922, 69925, and 69927, eff. Jan. 1, 2003), and the California Rules of Court, Rule 10.810(a), (b), (c), (d), and Function 8 (Court Security).

- B. Statutes 2009 (4th Ex. Sess.), Chapter 22, Mandates a Partial New Program or Higher Level of Service on Counties Within the Meaning of Article XIII B, Section 6(c) of the California Constitution.
- 1. <u>Government Code section 69927(a)(6)(A) as amended by Statutes 2009, 4th Ex. Sess.</u>, <u>chapter 22, does not impose any mandated activities on counties.</u>

The 2009 test claim statute amended Government Code section 69927(a)(6)(A) to provide that the AOC shall use average costs, rather than actual costs, when determining the funding request for the trial courts to be presented to DOF. That section states the following: "The Administrative Office of the Courts shall use the actual <u>average</u> salary and benefits costs approved for court law enforcement personnel as of June 30 of each year in determining the funding request that will be presented to the Department of Finance."

This section requires the AOC to act, but does not impose any required duties or costs on counties. Thus, the Commission finds that Government Code section 69927, as amended by Statutes 2009 (4th Ex. Sess.) chapter 22, does not impose a reimbursable state-mandated program on counties.

2. <u>Government Code section 69926(b)</u>, as amended by Statutes 2009 (4th Ex. Sess.) chapter 22, imposes a partial new program or higher level of service on counties within the meaning of article XIII B, section 6(c).

The remaining issue in this case is whether the 2009 amendment to Government Code section 69926(b), which excluded the cost of retiree health benefits for sheriff employees providing security services to the courts from the state funding for court operations mandates a new program or higher level of service within the meaning of article XIII B, section 6(c). The Commission finds that section 69926(b), as amended by the 2009 test claim statute, results in a reimbursable state-mandated program pursuant to article XIII B, section 6(c), under the circumstances specified below.

a. <u>Article XIII B, section 6(c) was Added to the California Constitution in 2004 to Expand</u> the Definition of "New Program or Higher Level of Service" to Include a Transfer of

⁷² California Constitution, article VI, section 6. See also Government Code section 68500 et seq.

⁷³ A "local agency" eligible to claim reimbursement is defined to include a "city, county, special district, authority, or political subdivision of the state," and does not include the courts.

Partial Financial Responsibility for a Required Program From the State to Local Agencies.

In 2004, Proposition 1A added subdivision (c) to article XIII B, section 6. Article XIII B, section 6(c) defines a new program or higher level of service to include:

[A] transfer by the Legislature from the State to cities, counties, cities and counties, or special districts of complete or partial financial responsibility for a required program for which the State previously had complete or partial financial responsibility.

In its summary of the proposition, the Legislative Analyst's Office (LAO) stated the following:

The measure also appears to expand the circumstances under which the state would be responsible for reimbursing cities, counties, and special districts for carrying out new state requirements. Specifically, the measure defines as a mandate state actions that transfer to local government financial responsibility for a required program for which the state previously had complete or partial financial responsibility. Under current law, some such transfers of financial responsibilities may not be considered a state mandate.⁷⁴

As indicated by LAO, some transfers of financial responsibility from the state to local government before the adoption of Proposition 1A were determined by the courts to require reimbursement, but only when the state had borne the entire cost of the program at the time article XIII B, section 6 was adopted in 1979 and had retained administrative control over the program until the enactment of the test claim statute. A summary of those cases is below.

i) The shift of funding cases before the adoption of Proposition 1A only found reimbursable new programs or higher levels of service for shifts of financial responsibility for programs funded and administered entirely by the state before the shift.

The line of cases starts with the California Supreme Court's 1988 decision in *Lucia Mar Unified School Dist. v. Honig,* where the court first determined that reimbursement under article XIII B, section 6 is required, not only when the state mandates local government to perform new activities, but also when the state compels local government to accept financial responsibility in whole or in part for a governmental program which was funded and administered *entirely* by the state before the advent of article XIII B, section 6.⁷⁵ The statute involved in *Lucia Mar* required the state to operate schools for severely handicapped students. Before 1979, school districts were required by statute to contribute local funding for the education of pupils residing in the district and attending the state assumed full responsibility to fund the state-operated schools. Thus, the state's responsibility to fully fund these state schools existed when article XIII B, section 6 became effective on July 1, 1980, and continued until Education Code section 59300 became effective on June 28, 1991, to require the school district of residence to pay the state

⁷⁴ Exhibit G, LAO summary of Proposition 1A, August 2004.

⁷⁵ Lucia Mar Unified School Dist. v. Honig (1988) 44 Cal.3d 830, 836.

operated school an amount equal to ten percent of the excess annual cost of education for each pupil attending a state-operated school.⁷⁶

The court held that "unquestionably, the contributions called for in section 59300 are used to fund a 'program' within this definition [article XIII B, section 6], for the education of handicapped children is clearly a governmental function of providing a service to the public, and the section imposes requirements on school districts not imposed on all the state's residents."⁷⁷ In addition, the program was "new" to local school districts since at the time section 59300 became effective, school districts were not required to contribute to the education of students from their districts at state-administered schools.⁷⁸ The court stated the following:

The fact that the impact of the section is to require plaintiffs to contribute funds to operate the state schools for the handicapped rather than to themselves administer the program does not detract from our conclusion that it calls for the establishment of a new program within the meaning of the constitutional provision. To hold, under the circumstances of this case, that a shift in funding of an existing program from the state to a local entity is not a new program as to the local agency would, we think, violate the intent underlying section 6 of article XIII B. That article imposes spending limits on state and local governments, and it followed by one year the adoption by initiative of article XIII A, which severely limited the taxing power of local governments. Section 6 was intended to preclude the state from shifting to local agencies the financial responsibility for providing public services in view of these restrictions on the taxing and spending power of the local entities.⁷⁹

Although the court found a new program, it remanded the claim back to the Commission to determine if school districts are mandated by the state to make the contributions to fund the state-operated schools, or whether school districts had other options for educating these pupils.⁸⁰

In 1997, the California Supreme Court in *County of San Diego v. State* also approved reimbursement based on a statute that shifted administrative and financial responsibility from the state to the counties for the care of medically indigent adults.⁸¹ Medically indigent adults were not linked to a federal category of disability for purposes of receiving federal disability benefits, and lacked the income and resources to afford health care.⁸² In 1971, the state extended Medi-Cal coverage to these individuals and, at the time the voters adopted article XIII B, section 6 in 1979, the state administered and bore full financial responsibility for the medical care of medically indigent adults under the Medi-Cal program. In 1982, the state enacted the test claim

⁷⁶ *Id.* at pages 832-833.

⁷⁷ *Id.* at page 835.

⁷⁸ *Ibid*.

⁷⁹ Lucia Mar, supra, 44 Cal.3d at pages 835-836.

⁸⁰ *Id.* at pages 836-837. The matter was later resolved with the special education test claims.

⁸¹ County of San Diego v. State (1997) 15 Cal.4th 68, 91.

⁸² *Id.* at page. 77.

statute to exclude medically indigent adults from the Medi-Cal program, "knowing and intending that the 1982 legislation would trigger the counties' [existing] responsibility to provide medical care as providers of last resort under [Welfare and Institutions Code] section 17000."⁸³ The state argued, however, that reimbursement was not required and that the holding in *Lucia Mar* was not applicable as follows:

The school program at issue in Lucia Mar "had been wholly operated, administered and financed by the state" and "was unquestionably a state program." "In contrast," the state argues, "the program here has never been operated or administered by the State of California. The counties have always borne legal and financial responsibility for" it under [Welfare and Institutions Code] section 17000 and its predecessors. [Footnote omitted.] … Thus, the state argues, the source of San Diego's obligation to provide medical care to adult MIPs is section 17000, not the 1982 [test claim] legislation. Moreover, because the Legislature enacted section 17000 in 1965, and section 6 does not apply to "mandates enacted prior to January 1, 1975," there is no reimbursable mandate. Finally, the state argues, that because section 17001 give counties "complete discretion" in setting eligibility and service standards under section 17000, there is no mandate. ⁸⁴

The court rejected the state's arguments. The court disagreed with the state's assertion that counties both operated and administered the program that provided medical care to indigents before the enactment of the test claim statute.⁸⁵ The court held that under prior law, the Medi-Cal statutes allowed eligible persons a choice of medical facilities for treatment, placing county health care providers in competition with private hospitals.⁸⁶ The court further found that the administration of the Medi-Cal program had been the responsibility of various state departments and agencies, citing several cases holding that "the Legislature shifted indigent medical care from being a county responsibility to a State responsibility under the Medi-Cal program."⁸⁷ Thus, between 1971 and 1983 when the test claim statute became effective, the court determined that the state administered and bore financial responsibility for the medical care of medically indigent adults under the Medi-Cal program, and that the Medi-Cal program was not simply a method of reimbursing counties.⁸⁸ The test claim statute then shifted both the administrative and financial responsibility for the care of adult medically indigent adults to the counties.

The court further rejected the state's argument that because the law gave counties discretion in setting eligibility and service standards under Welfare and Institutions Code section 17000, there was no mandated program. The court agreed there was some discretion in providing benefits to

- ⁸³ *Id.* at page 98.
 ⁸⁴ *Id.* at page 91.
- ⁸⁵ *Id.* at page 97.
- ⁸⁶ *Id*. at page 96.
- ⁸⁷ *Id.* at pages 96-97.
- ⁸⁸ *Id.* at pages 97-98.

indigents, but that the discretion had "clear-cut limits" that could only be exercised within fixed boundaries.⁸⁹ The court determined that counties did not have discretion to refuse to provide medical care to medically indigent adults following the enactment of the test claim statute;⁹⁰ that case law and existing statutes required the care to be the same as that available to non-indigent people receiving health care services in private facilities in the county;⁹¹ and that the state failed to identify any specific services that were not required or could have been eliminated under the governing statutes.⁹²

And, despite the argument that the counties' duty to provide care to indigents stemmed from Welfare and Institutions Code section 17000 as added by a pre-1975 statute, the court held that the 1982 test claim statute mandated a "new program" on counties by compelling them to accept financial responsibility in whole or in part for a program for the care of medically indigent adults, "which was funded entirely by the state before the advent of article XIII B."⁹³

Under the state's interpretation of that section, because section 17000 was enacted before 1975, the Legislature could eliminate the entire Medi-Cal program and shift to the counties under section 17000 complete financial responsibility for medical care that the state has been providing since 1966. However, the taxing and spending limitations imposed by articles XIII A and XIII B would greatly limit the ability of counties to meet their expanded section 17000 obligation. "County taxpayers would be forced to accept new taxes or see the county forced to cut existing programs further" [Citations omitted.] As we have explained, the voters, recognizing that articles XIII A and XIII B left counties "ill equipped" to assume such increased financial responsibilities, adopted section 6 precisely to avoid this result. [Citation omitted.] Thus, it was the voters who decreed that we must, as the state puts it, "focus on one phase in the shifting pattern of financial arrangements" between the state and the counties. Under section 6, the state simply cannot "compel [counties] to accept financial responsibility in whole or in part for a program which was funded entirely by the state before the advent of article XIII B" [Citation omitted.]⁹⁴

The *Lucia Mar* and *County of San Diego* holdings, however, were not applied in cases where the state did not administer the program, but instead provided reimbursement assistance to local government for a program fully operated and administered at the local level, which that later ended, resulting in increased local costs. For example, the claim in *County of Los Angeles II* addressed a Penal Code provision that allowed an indigent defendant charged with capital murder to request funds for the payment of investigators, experts, and others expenses necessary

- ⁸⁹ *Id.* at page 100.
- ⁹⁰ *Id.* at page 104.
- ⁹¹ *Id.* at pages 104-105.
- ⁹² *Id.* at page 106.
- ⁹³ *Id.* at page 98.
- ⁹⁴ *Id.* at pages 98-99.

for the preparation of his or her defense at trial.⁹⁵ For several years after its enactment, the Legislature appropriated funds to reimburse counties for their costs under the Penal Code provision. In fiscal year 1990-1991, however, no appropriation was made, forcing the counties to pay for the expenses out of their general funds. The counties then filed a test claim for the reimbursement of costs to provide investigators and experts for the defense of indigent criminal defendants in capital murder cases, which was denied by the Commission. The court determined that reimbursement was not required under article XIII B, section 6 on the ground that providing experts, investigators, and other ancillary services to indigent defendants was always required by federal law under the constitutional guarantees of due process under the Fourteenth Amendment and the Sixth Amendment right to counsel.⁹⁶ The court also found that there was no shift in costs from the state to the counties because, unlike the case in *Lucia Mar*, the program had never been operated or administered by the state. The court determined that "counties have always borne legal and financial responsibility for implementing the [program]." Thus the program was not a "new program" to counties. The state merely reimbursed counties in their operation of a local program.

In contrast, the program here has never been operated or administered by the State of California. The counties have always borne legal and financial responsibility for implementing the procedures under section 987.9. The state merely reimbursed counties for specific expenses incurred by the counties in their operation of a program for which they had a primary legal and financial responsibility. There has been no shift of costs from the state to the counties and Lucia Mar is, thus, inapposite.⁹⁷

Finally, *Lucia Mar* and *County of San Diego* were not applied in *County of Sonoma v*. *Commission on State Mandates*, where the court analyzed whether reimbursement was required for a 1992 statute that reduced the share of property tax revenues previously allocated to counties and simultaneously placed the reduced amount of property tax revenues into the Educational Revenue Augmentation Fund (ERAF) for distribution to K-14 school districts.⁹⁸ The counties asserted the ERAF statute shifted a state-mandated new program to counties, citing *Lucia Mar* and *County of San Diego*. The court disagreed, finding that reimbursement was not required on two grounds. First, the court found that the county's tax revenues were not expended, since no invoices were sent, no costs were collected, and no charges were made against the counties. Instead, county revenues were simply reduced under the ERAF statutes. The court held that "[c]ontrary to the conclusion of the trial court, it is the expenditure of tax revenues of local governments that is the appropriate focus of section 6."⁹⁹ Second, the court held that *Lucia Mar* and *County of San Diego* did not apply since there was "no shift in this case from a totally statesupported status to a forced sharing on the part of local government. The state has not imposed

⁹⁵ County of Los Angeles v. State of California (1995) 32 Cal.App.4th 805.

⁹⁷ *Id.* at page 817.

⁹⁸ County of Sonoma v. Commission on State Mandates (2000) 84 Cal.App.4th 1264.

⁹⁹ *Id*. at page 1283.

⁹⁶ *Id.* at page 815.

responsibility for any program that local governments have not always had a substantial share in supporting."¹⁰⁰ The court traced the history of education funding, finding that there has always been a historical fluidity in the fiscal relationship between local governments and schools. "The state has shifted property tax revenue both from schools to local governments [after Proposition 13, as part of the state's bailout of local government], and, as in this case, from local governments to schools."¹⁰¹ In its analysis, the court relied on a key holding of the California Supreme Court in the *County of San Diego* case, which stated the following:

We do not hold that 'whenever there is a change in a state program that has the effect of increasing a county's financial burden ... there must be reimbursement by the state.' ... Rather, we hold that section 6 prohibits the state from shifting to counties the cost of *state programs for which the state assumed complete financial responsibility* before adoption of section 6. [Emphasis added.]¹⁰²

The court concluded by stating that a shift of a percentage of a jointly funded program is not subject to article XIII B, section 6 as follows:

We do not find a single case, statute, or administrative ruling that indicates the shifting of percentage allocations of financial responsibility for joint state and locally funded programs requires reimbursement to the local government whenever it receives less money than it did in the previous budget year. The critical point in the analysis is that school funding in California was, at the time section 6 became effective, a jointly funded partnership between the state and local governments. These joint budget allocations are not subject to section 6. To hold otherwise would impermissibly cripple the ability of the Legislature to function in the critical area of budget planning.¹⁰³

 ii) The voters adopted Proposition 1A in 2004 to add subdivision (c) to article XIII B, section 6 to expand the prohibition against shifts of financial responsibility for required governmental programs to instances where the state had only partial financial responsibility of the program before the shift.

Proposition 1A was a constitutional amendment placed on the ballot by the Legislature (SCA 4) as part of the 2004-2005 budget agreement to protect property tax revenues of local agencies. It was proposed, in part, to address the court's ruling in the *County of Sonoma* case, which as discussed above, denied reimbursement under article XIII B, section 6 for the reduction of county property tax revenue and allocation of that revenue into the ERAF to fund K-14 schools, on the ground that the state had not assumed complete financial responsibility for K-14 education

¹⁰⁰ *Id.* at page 1287.

¹⁰¹ *Ibid*.

¹⁰² County of Sonoma, supra, 84 Cal.App.4th at page 1286, citing County of San Diego, supra, 15 Cal.4th 68, 99, fn. 20., which also noted that "[w]hether the state may discontinue assistance that it initiated after section 6's adoption is a question that is not before us."

¹⁰³ *Id.* at page 1289.

before adoption of section 6.¹⁰⁴ The court in *County of Sonoma* held that article XIII B, section 6 only "prohibits the state from shifting to counties the cost of *state programs for which the state assumed complete financial responsibility* before adoption of section 6."¹⁰⁵ In this respect, Proposition 1A added section 6(c) to article XIII B, to expand the definition of a new program or higher level of service to include situations when the Legislature transfers from the state to a local agency "*complete or partial* financial responsibility for a required program for which the State previously had *complete or partial* financial responsibility."¹⁰⁶

The interpretation of article XIII B, section 6(c) is an issue of first impression for the Commission. The principles of constitutional interpretation are similar to those governing statutory construction. The aim of constitutional interpretation is to determine and effectuate the intent of the voters who enacted the constitutional provision. To determine that intent, the Commission, like a court, must begin by examining the constitutional text, giving the words their ordinary meaning.¹⁰⁷ In addition, the words must be interpreted in harmony with other relevant portions of the Constitutional amendment that are also stated in existing provisions of the Constitutional amendment that are also stated in existing provisions of the Constitution when those terms have been judicially interpreted and put into practice, unless it is apparent from the language used that a more general or restricted sense was intended.¹⁰⁹

Proposition 1A did not change the overarching principles of article XIII B, section 6, which continues to require a finding that the state has mandated a "new program or higher level of service" on local agencies, resulting in increased costs mandated by the state. In this respect, the courts have been clear that the reimbursement requirement in article XIII B, section 6 is triggered when the statute compels local agencies to incur increased costs mandated by the state for a program that carries out the governmental function of providing a service to the public or, to implement a state policy, imposes unique requirements on local agencies that do not apply to all residents and entities in the state.¹¹⁰

¹⁰⁴ Senate Third Reading, Analysis of SCA 4 (Torlakson), as amended July 27, 2004 (2003-2004 Reg. Sess.) page 2.

¹⁰⁵ County of Sonoma, supra, 84 Cal.App.4th at page 1286, citing County of San Diego, supra, 15 Cal.4th 68, 99, fn. 20.

¹⁰⁶ Among several other changes, Proposition 1A also prohibited future ERAF shifts to local agencies by amending article XIII, section 25.5 of the California Constitution to prohibit the Legislature from reducing the share of property tax revenues allocated to local agencies below the level required on November 3, 2004.

¹⁰⁷ County of Los Angeles v. State of California (1987) 43 Cal.3d 46, 56; Richmond v. Shasta Community Services Dist. (2004) 32 Cal.4th 409, 418.

¹⁰⁸ State Bd. of Equalization v. Board of Supervisors (1980) 105 Cal.App.3d 813, 822.

¹⁰⁹ Sacramento County v. Hickman (1967) 66 Cal.2d 841, 849.

¹¹⁰ San Diego Unified School Dist., supra, 33 Cal.4th at pages 874-875 (reaffirming the test set out in *County of Los Angeles v. State of California* (1987) 43 Cal.3d 46, 56.)

The concern which prompted the inclusion of section 6 in article XIII B was the perceived attempt by the state to enact legislation or adopt administrative orders creating programs to be administered by local agencies, thereby transferring to those agencies the fiscal responsibility for providing services which the state believed should be extended to the public. In their ballot arguments, the proponents of article XIII B explained section 6 to the voters: "Additionally, this measure (1) Will not allow the state government to force programs on local governments without the state paying for them." (Ballot Pamp., Amend. To Cal. Const. with arguments to voters, Spec. Statewide Elec. (Nov. 6, 1979) p. 18 ...). In this context the phrase "to force programs on local governments" confirms that the intent underlying section 6 was to require reimbursement to local agencies for the costs involved in carrying out functions peculiar to government, not for expenses incurred by local agencies as an incidental impact of laws that apply generally to all state residents and entities.¹¹¹

Reimbursement is not required whenever a statute or executive order simply results in increased costs for local government.

Indeed, as the court in City of Richmond [v. Commission on State Mandates (1998)] 64 Cal.App.4th 1190, ... observed: "Increasing the cost of providing services cannot be equated with requiring an increased level of service under article XIII B, section 6 ... a higher cost to the local government for compensating its employees is not the same as a higher cost of providing an increased level of services to the public."¹¹²

However, the plain language of section 6(c) expands the definition of a "new program or higher level of service" to whenever the state transfers from itself to local agencies increased financial responsibility for existing programs that provide a service to the public and that have been partially funded, at least until the shift, by state. Thus, the court's specific holding in *County of Sonoma* that denied reimbursement for the ERAF shift because the state never had complete financial responsibility to fund schools, no longer applies.¹¹³

In addition, to determine if the state's transfer of financial responsibility to local agencies is new or increases the level of service of an existing program, section 6(c) directs the Commission to look at whether the state "previously," had any financial responsibility for the program. The word "previously" is not specifically defined in section 6(c). Before the adoption of Proposition 1A, a shift of financial responsibility for a governmental program from the state to local

¹¹¹ *Id.* at page 875.

¹¹² *Id.* at page 877, fn.12.

¹¹³ This interpretation is consistent with the analysis of Proposition 1A by LAO, which recognized that section 6(c) "may increase future state costs or alter future state actions regarding local jointly funded state-local programs. While it is not possible to determine the cost to reimburse local agencies for potential future state actions, our review of state measures enacted in the past suggests that, over time, increased state reimbursement costs may exceed a hundred million dollars annually." (Exhibit G.)

government was considered "new" and, thus, a "new program," when it followed the fact that the state initially had complete financial responsibility for the program *at the time* article XIII B, section 6 was adopted in 1979, which continued until the enactment of the test claim statute. As indicated by the Supreme Court in the *County of San Diego* case, "[w]hether the state may discontinue assistance that it initiated *after* section 6's adoption is a question that is not before us.¹¹⁴ For purposes of interpreting section 6(c), however, it does not make sense to determine the financial responsibilities of a program in 1979 when section 6(c) was added by the voters 25 years later in 2004, which now expands the definition of a mandated new program or higher level of service to include shifts of costs in *existing* programs with shared financial responsibilities.¹¹⁵ Such an interpretation may ignore many years of legislation enacted after 1979 that impacts an existing program, and adds a limitation to section 6(c), which is not included in the plain language adopted by the voters.¹¹⁶

Rather, the dictionary defines the word "previously" as "existing or happening prior to something else in time or order."¹¹⁷ In addition, recent decisions by the courts have compared the test claim statute with the law in effect *immediately before* the enactment of the test claim statute to determine if a mandated cost is new or increases the level of service in an existing program.¹¹⁸ Thus, the Commission finds that a test claim statute shifting the financial responsibility of an existing program from the state to the local agencies must be compared to the law in effect immediately before the enactment of the test claim statute to determine if the shift constitutes a new program or higher level of service within the meaning of article XIII B, section 6(c).

b. <u>The Statutes 2009 (4th Ex. Sess.)</u>, chapter 22 amendment to Government Code section 69926(b) imposes a new program or higher level of service within the meaning of article XIII B, section 6(c).

¹¹⁴ County of San Diego, supra, 15 Cal.4th at page 99, fn. 20 (Emphasis added).

¹¹⁵ *County of Los Angeles v. State of California* (1987) 43 Cal.3d 46, 56, providing that the rules of interpretation of a constitutional provision require a court to look at what the voters intended when they enacted the provision.

¹¹⁶ *People ex rel. Lungren v. Superior Court* (1996) 14 Cal.4th 294, 301, where the court stated that "To determine this intent [of a constitutional provision], we look first to the plain language of the law, read in context, and will not add to the law or rewrite it to conform to an assumed intent not apparent from the language."

¹¹⁷ Webster's II New College Dictionary (1986), page 876.

¹¹⁸ San Diego Unified School Dist. v. Commission on State Mandates (2004) 33 Cal.4th 859, 878, where the court held that "the statutory requirements here at issue – immediate suspension and mandatory recommendation of expulsion for students who possess a firearm, and the limitation upon the ensuing options of the school board (expulsion or referral) – reasonably are viewed as providing a "higher level of service" to the public under the commonly understood sense of that term: (i) the requirements are new in comparison with the preexisting scheme in view of the circumstances that they did not exist prior to the enactment of the [test claim statute]." See also, *Lucia Mar Unified School Dist., supra*, 44 Cal.3d 830, 835.

The 2009 statute added the following underlined language to section 69926(b):

The superior court and the sheriff or marshal shall enter into an annual or multiyear memorandum of understanding specifying the agreed upon level of court security services, costs of services, and terms of payment. <u>The cost of services specified in the memorandum of understanding shall be based on the estimated average cost of salary and benefits for equivalent personnel</u> classifications in that county, not including overtime pay. *In calculating the average cost of benefits, only those benefits listed in paragraph (6) of subdivision (a) of Section 69927 shall be included. For purposes of this article, "benefits" excludes any item not expressly listed in this subdivision, including, but not limited to, any costs associated with retiree health benefits. As used in this subdivision, retiree health benefits includes, but is not limited to, the current cost of health benefits for already retired personnel and any amount to cover the costs of future retiree health benefits for either currently employed or already retired personnel. (Emphasis added.)¹¹⁹*

As described in Section II. Background, state law, since 1883, has required the county sheriff to provide court security services to the trial courts. As last amended in 2002, Government Code section 69922 requires the sheriff to attend all criminal and delinquency actions in the superior court held within his or her county, and to attend noncriminal actions *if* the presiding judge makes the determination that the attendance of the sheriff at that action is necessary for reasons of public safety. Providing security services for noncriminal actions at the request of the presiding judge is not a requirement imposed by the state and, thus, not subject to the reimbursement requirements of article XIII B, section $6.^{120}$

It is undisputed that providing court security services for criminal and delinquency actions of the court is a service required to be provided by the counties. The parties dispute, however, whether Government Code section 69926(b), as amended by Statutes 2009 (4th Ex. Sess.), chapter 22, which excluded retiree health benefits for sheriff employees providing court security services from the state funding provided for court operations under the Trial Court Funding Program, mandates a new program or higher level of service within the meaning of article XIII B, section 6(c).

i) Under prior law, the state paid the cost of retiree health care benefits for sheriff employees providing court security services in criminal and delinquency matters, as long as the cost was included in the county's cost for court operations and properly billed to the state under the Trial Court Funding Program before January 1, 2003.

The Judicial Council contends that under prior law (the 2002 Law Enforcement Act and the contract law enforcement template), retiree health benefits were not included in the list of state-

¹¹⁹ This provision was repealed by Statutes 2011, chapter 40, as a part of realignment, effective June 27, 2012, so the period of reimbursement for this claim is July 28, 2009 to June 27, 2012 only.

¹²⁰ Appropriations required to comply with mandates of the courts are not eligible for reimbursement under article XIII B, section 6. (Cal. Const., art. XIII B, § 9.)

allowable employer paid labor-related employee benefits and, therefore, those costs were not funded by the state before the enactment of the 2009 test claim statute. The Commission disagrees.

Immediately before the Statutes 2009 (4th Ex. Sess.), chapter 22 amendment to Government Code section 69926(b), sheriff court security was included in the list of services that define trial "court operations" pursuant to Government Code section 77003 and was an allowable cost paid by the state to counties under the 2002 Superior Court Law Enforcement Act (Gov. Code, §§ 69920 et seq.) and the contract law enforcement template. Government Code section 69921.5, as added by Statutes 2002, chapter 1010, required the presiding judge of each superior court to contract with the sheriff or marshal, subject to available funding, for the necessary level of law enforcement services in the courts. Section 69926(b) required that the annual or multiyear memorandum of understanding shall specify the agreed upon level of court security services, cost of services, and terms of payment. Section 69926(c) required the sheriff or marshal to provide information each year to the court specifying the proposed projected costs for the court security budget, including negotiated salary increases for the deputies that provide security services. The court security budget was then subject to the Judicial Council's approval and appropriation of funding by the Legislature.

To standardize billing and accounting practices, the Legislature enacted Government Code section 66227 to identify allowable law enforcement costs after January 1, 2003, the operative date of the 2002 Superior Court Law Enforcement Act. Section 66227(a) states the intent of the Act is to not increase or decrease the responsibility of a county for the cost of court operations for the court security services provided before January 1, 2003. Section 66227(a) further states that any new court security costs permitted by law are not operative unless the funding is approved and provided by the Legislature. The Judicial Council interprets this provision as requiring the court to pay for only those allowable costs that were properly billed under the trial court funding program before the Superior Court Law Enforcement Act of 2002 as follows:

The court is responsible only for allowable cost categories that were properly billed before the enactment of the Superior Court Law Enforcement Act of 2002. The sheriff may not bill the court for any new allowable cost categories listed herein until the court has agreed to the new cost and new funding has been allocated to the court for this purpose.¹²¹

Section 69927 then required the Judicial Council to establish a working group on court security to develop a contract law enforcement template that identifies allowable law enforcement security costs. Section 69927(a)(5), as added in 2002,¹²² defined "allowable costs for security personnel services" for the template to mean "the salary and benefits of an employee, including, but not limited to," a long list of commonly provided benefits, some required by state or federal law and some which are generally provided to public employees though the bargaining process including "county health and welfare" … and related benefits of law enforcement supervisory

¹²¹ Exhibit G, Trial Court Financial Policies and Procedures (FIN 14.01, 6.2 Allowable Costs) adopted by the Judicial Council effective September 1, 2010.

 122 Government Code section 69927(a)(5) was renumbered to section 69927(a)(6) by the 2009 test claim statute.
and line personnel." The contract law enforcement template became effective May 1, 2003, and identifies the following allowable court security costs for county employees in Section 1: court security personnel approved in the budget or provided at special request of the court; salary, wages and benefits (including overtime as specified) of sheriff, marshal, constable employees including, but not limited to, bailiffs, holding cell deputies, and weapons screening personnel; salary, wages and benefits of court security supervisors who spend more than 25 percent of their time on court security functions; and negotiated and projected salary increases.

Allowable benefits for employees are listed in section III, the addendum of the template as follows:

BENEFIT: This is the list of the allowable employer-paid labor-related employee benefits.

County Health & Welfare (Benefit Plans)

County Incentive Payments (PIP)

Deferred Compensation Plan Costs

FICA/Medicare

General Liability Premium Costs

Leave Balance Payout

Premium Pay (such as POST pay, location pay, Bi-lingual pay, training officer pay)

Retirement

State Disability Insurance (SDI)

Unemployment Insurance Cost

Workers Comp Paid to Employee in lieu of salary

Workers Comp Premiums

Section II of the template contains the list of 23 non-allowable costs as follows: other sheriff or marshal employees (not working in the court); county overhead cost attributable to the operation of the sheriff/marshal offices; departmental overhead of sheriffs and marshals that is not in the list of Section I allowable costs; service and supplies, including data processing, not specified in Section I; furniture; basic training for new personnel to be assigned to court; transportation and housing of detainees from the jail to the courthouse; vehicle costs used by court security personnel in the transport of prisoners to court; the purchase of new vehicles to be utilized by court security personnel; vehicle maintenance exceeding the allowable mileage reimbursement; transportation of prisoners between the jails and courts or between courts; supervisory time and costs where service for the court is less than 25 percent of the time on duty; costs of supervision higher than the level of Captain; service of process in civil cases; security outside of the courtroom in multi-use facilities which results in disproportionate allocation of cost; any external security costs (i.e., security outside court facility, such as perimeter patrol and lighting); extraordinary security costs (e.g., general law enforcement activities within court facilities and protection of judges away from the court); overtime used to staff another function within the

sheriff's office if an employee in that function is transferred to court security to maintain necessary coverage; construction or remodeling of holding cells; maintenance of holding facility equipment; facilities alteration or other than normal installation in support of perimeter security equipment; video arraignment equipment; costs of workers compensation/disability payments to disabled sheriff or marshal employees who formerly provided security, while the full costs of those positions continue to be funded by the courts.

Government Code section 69927(b) concludes by stating that "[n]othing in this article may increase a county's obligation or require any county to assume the responsibility for a cost of any service that was defined as a court operation cost, as defined by Function 8 of Rule 810 of the California Rules of Court, as it read on July 1, 1996" As indicated in Section II. Background, Function 8 of Rule 810 previously defined allowable costs for sheriff court security services to include the "salary, wages, and benefits" of sheriff supervisory and line personnel.

The Judicial Council contends that retiree health benefits were not included in the list of allowable employer paid labor-related employee benefits and, therefore, those costs were not funded by the state before the enactment of the 2009 test claim statute. The Judicial Council states the following:

Although sheriff retiree health benefits are not specifically identified in the list of allowable costs identified in Government Code section 69927(a)(6), the working group could have determined they were allowable because the use of the words [in the statute] "including, but not limited to" preceding the list of allowable items indicates that the Legislature intended the list to be illustrative and not exclusive. [Footnote omitted.] The first version of the Template, [footnote omitted] however, did not allow payment of sheriff retiree health benefits. Section I of the Template, titled "Allowable Cost Narratives," allows for the payment of "Salary, wages, and benefits" for sheriff employees. Section III of the Security Template, entitled "Addendum Narratives," includes a table that states "this is a list of the allowable employer-paid labor-related employee benefits." (Italics added.) This wording, in contrast to the use of the phrase "including, but not limited to" in Government Code section 69927(a)(6), makes the list exclusive. [Footnote omitted.] Retiree health benefits are not included in the list. Given that the Legislature made the Template the final word on what was an allowable cost, with its adoption, retiree health benefits were not allowable costs.¹²³

Although the contract law enforcement template does not expressly list retiree health benefit costs as an allowable cost, it does identify "County Health & Welfare (Benefit Plans)," a broadly worded phrase, as an allowable cost. In addition, retiree health benefit costs are *not* identified in the template's list of *non*-allowable costs. Thus, the plain language of the template is not as clear as the Judicial Council suggests.

"County Health and Welfare (Benefit Plans)" is broad and does have meaning under existing law. When the Legislature directed the Judicial Council to establish the working group to develop the template in light of its definition of allowable costs for security personnel services, there existed in law a comprehensive statutory scheme enacted in 1963 (Gov. Code, §§ 53200, et

¹²³ Exhibit B, Judicial Council of California, comments on the test claim filed August 16, 2010.

seq.) authorizing local agencies, including counties, to provide health and welfare benefits to their employees, including benefits for retiree health care. Government Code section 53200(d) defines "health and welfare benefit" to mean any one of the following: "hospital, medical, surgical, disability, legal expense or related benefits including, but not limited to, medical, dental, life, legal expense, and income protection insurance or benefits, whether provided on an insurance or service basis, and includes group life insurance as defined in subdivision (b) of this section." Section 53201 then authorizes the legislative body of the local agency to provide for any health and welfare benefits, as defined in section 53200, for the benefit of its retired employees.¹²⁴ The courts have determined that section 53201 gives local agencies the power to provide their employees "any health and welfare benefits" for its officers, employees, and retired employees, with no limitation on the amount or kinds of benefits a local agency may provide.¹²⁵ Section 53202 states that the local agency may contract with one or more insurers, health service organizations, or legal service organizations when providing health and welfare benefits. Sections 53202.1 and 53205.2 then provide that the local agency may approve several insurance policies, including one for health, and that when granting the approval of a health benefit plan, the governing board "shall give preference to such health benefit plans as do not terminate upon retirement of the employees affected, and which provide the same benefits for retired personnel as for active personnel at no increase in costs to the retired person, provided that the local agency or governing board makes a contribution of at least five dollars (\$5) per month toward the cost of providing a health benefits plan for the employee or the employee and the dependent members of his family."¹²⁶

It is presumed that the Legislature was aware of the counties' broad authority to provide health and welfare benefits to employees when it enacted the 2002 Superior Court Law Enforcement Act and defined allowable "salary and benefit" costs for security personnel services to include

¹²⁴ The legislative history of Government Code section 53201 was described in an opinion issued by the Attorney General's Office. It states the following:

Section 53201 was enacted in 1949 (Stats. 1949, ch. 81, §1), initially allowing current officers and employees that opportunity to purchase their own group insurance. In 1957 (Stats. 1957, ch. 944, §2), the Legislature authorized local agencies to pay for the insurance if they so chose, and expanded the coverage to health and welfare benefits generally. In 1963, 'retired employees' (Stats. 1963, ch. 1773, §1) were added to the coverage

(85 Ops. Cal.Atty.Gen. 63 (2002).

¹²⁵ Sturgeon v. County of Los Angeles (2008) 167 Cal.App.4th 630, 654.

¹²⁶ Emphasis added. In *Ventura County Retired Employees' Assn. v. County of Ventura* (1991) 228 Cal.App.3d 1594, 1598-1599, the court held that a county's initial decision to furnish health care benefits to retirees is discretionary and that section 53205.2 does not require a county to provide health care benefits to retirees which are equal to those provided to active employees. Rather, section 53205.2 requires only that the county give preference to health benefit plans that furnish retirees and active employees the same benefits at no cost increase to retirees. "Such a 'preference' should only be made if health plans are commercially available and actuarially sound."

"county health and welfare" benefits.¹²⁷ In fact, the plain language of Government Code section 69927(b), as added by the 2002 Act, shows that the Legislature was aware of the prior definition of allowable costs for sheriff court security services in Function 8 of Rule 810 and that it included *all* costs for salary, wages, and benefits provided by the county for sheriff supervisory and line personnel performing court security services. Section 69927(b) states that "[n]othing in this article may increase a county's obligation or require any county to assume the responsibility for a cost of any service that was defined as a court operation cost . . . [in] Function 8 of Rule 810 of the California Rules of Court, as it read on July 1, 1996"

In addition, there is nothing in the phrase "County Health and Welfare (Benefit Plans)," or other language adopted in the template, to suggest that the phrase means something different than the health and welfare benefits authorized by sections 53200 and 53201 for county employees, or that the phrase itself excludes retiree health benefits as suggested in the comments filed by the Judicial Council.

This interpretation is also supported by documents in the record filed by the Judicial Council. Exhibit 12 to the Judicial Council's comments, is a memorandum of responses prepared by the AOC and the California State Sheriffs Association (dated July 10, 2003, *after* the template became effective in May 2003), to court security questions submitted at the "SB 1396" (2002 Superior Court Law Enforcement Act) training sessions. On page 4 of the document is the following question presented by attendees: "Is the payment of premiums for lifetime health benefits in retirement an allowable cost?" The answer provided states the following: "Yes. Payment of retirement benefits, such as health insurance should be locally negotiated."¹²⁸

Exhibit 15 is a letter from the Executive Clerk for the Superior Court for the County of Los Angeles to the Director of the AOC, dated January 10, 2007, with documents attached to the letter showing that the county included retiree health costs for deputies and sergeants, at a rate of 2.780 percent, in fiscal year 1994-1995 (the base year for determining the county's maintenance of effort payment for trial court funding) in its maintenance of effort payments to the state. The letter took the position that each court should be allocated funding for retiree health benefits if the costs were paid by the court in the past.¹²⁹

Exhibit 16 is the response from the Director of the AOC, agreeing that payment of retirement health insurance costs for sheriff security personnel is "authorized to extent the expenditures were included in the Counties Maintenance of Effort (MOE) payment (which was established after the state assumed responsibility for state funding on January 1, 1998), if the court has paid these costs since that time, and if no new method of cost calculation has been adopted which would have the effect of expanding financial liability." Thus, the Director of the AOC agreed that the County of Los Angeles properly billed the court for retiree health benefits for sheriff

¹²⁷ Estate of McDill (1975) 14 Cal.3d 831, 837.

¹²⁸ Exhibit B, Judicial Council, comments on the test claim filed August 16, 2010, Exhibit 12, page 4.

¹²⁹ Exhibit B, Judicial Council, comments on the test claim filed August 16, 2010, Exhibit 15.

deputies providing security services before the enactment of the Superior Court Law Enforcement Act of 2002 pursuant to Government Code section 69927(a).¹³⁰

And finally, Exhibit 17 is a staff analysis from the AOC to the Judicial Council, dated October 8, 2008, recognizing five counties that historically included retiree health costs for sheriff court security in the maintenance of effort contracts as follows:

Court security retiree health costs of \$4.98 million have historically been included in maintenance of effort (MOE) contracts for five courts since the passage of state trial court funding. These five courts have been billed for these costs by the sheriff and have paid for them.¹³¹

Thus, the Commission finds that under the law immediately preceding the Statutes 2009 (4th Ex. Sess.), chapter 22, the cost of retiree health care benefits for sheriff employees providing court security services in criminal and delinquency matters was an allowable cost of "court operations" paid by the state, as long as the cost was included in the county's cost for court operations and properly billed to the state under the Trial Court Funding Program before January 1, 2003.

Statutes 2009 (4th Ex. Sess.), chapter 22 amended Government Code section 69926(b), effective July 28, 2009, to *exclude* the costs of retiree health benefits from the sheriff court security services component of court operations paid by the state under the Trial Court Funding Program. The section 69926(b) definition of excluded "retiree health benefits" includes, "but is not limited to, the current cost of health benefits for already retired personnel and any amount to cover the costs of future retiree health benefits for either currently employed or already retired personnel."

The Judicial Council asserts that the retiree health benefit costs associated with former sheriff deputies who are already retired were not paid by the state under prior law, since the state did not pay for the health benefits of retired employees under the trial court funding program. Thus, with respect to already retired employees, the test claim statute is clarifying of existing law. The Judicial Council therefore asserts that the retiree health care costs of already retired employees have not been shifted to the counties.

The Judicial Council is correct that under prior law, section 69926(a)(5), as added by the 2002 Superior Court Law Enforcement Act, defined the allowable costs for security personnel services to mean only the salary and benefits of "an employee." No funding was provided by the state under prior law for premium costs provided to already retired employees and their beneficiaries. Thus, the Commission agrees that any current health benefit payments to retirees or their beneficiaries made during the period of reimbursement are not new and have not been transferred by the state.

However, as indicated above, the cost of retiree health care benefits for existing *employees* providing court security services in criminal and delinquency matters was an allowable cost paid by the state as a component of court operations under prior law, as long as the cost was included in the county's cost for court operations and properly billed to the state under the Trial Court Funding Program before January 1, 2003. For those counties, retiree health care costs for

¹³⁰ Exhibit B, Judicial Council, comments on the test claim filed August 16, 2010, Exhibit 16.
¹³¹ Exhibit B, Judicial Council, comments on the test claim filed August 16, 2010, Exhibit 17.

employees providing the required security services are now excluded from the cost of "court operations," thus imposing a new cost to counties. Section 69926(b), as amended by Statutes 2009 (4th Ex. Sess.), chapter 22, is not simply clarifying of existing law, as suggested by the Judicial Council. The 2009 test claim statute is a material change in the law.

ii) Section 69926(b), as amended in 2009, transfers partial financial responsibility for providing sheriff court security services for the trial court operations program from the state to the counties and, thus, imposes a new program or higher level of service on counties within the meaning of article XIII B, section 6(c).

DOF asserts that the test claim should be denied because even though counties may see increased costs as a result of the test claim statute, the state did not shift fiscal responsibility from the state to the counties for a required program. Specifically, DOF asserts the following:

First, the state did not have financial responsibility for the retiree health benefit program and providing retiree health benefits was not a state requirement. ... Second, the test claim statute did not place any financial responsibility on local government for payment of the retiree health benefits. The test claim statute only ended the state's agreement to pay those costs. While the state paid those costs for a period of time, it did so voluntarily and absent any legal obligation to do so. This does not equate to the state's having "financial responsibility" within the meaning of section 6(c).¹³²

However, the state's payment of retiree health benefits for sheriff employees providing security services to the courts was not simply a method of reimbursing counties for a local program, as suggested by DOF. While it is correct that counties have historically provided security services to the courts with county employees, sheriff court security services in criminal and delinquency matters is a required component of "court operations," which as described below, is a state program that has been payable by the state under the 1997 Trial Court Funding Program pursuant to Government Code section 77003. The primary responsibility for court operations, both before and after the enactment of the 2009 test claim statute, has remained with the state. Yet a portion of the costs for court operations has now been transferred to the counties with the enactment of the 2009 test claim statute.

As described in Section II Background, the 1997 Trial Court Funding Act shifted "full responsibility to fund trial court operations to the state," beginning July 1, 1997. The Legislature determined in the Trial Court Funding Act that "funding of trial court operations is most logically a function of the state;" that state "funding is necessary to provide uniform standards and procedures, economies of scale, and structural efficiency and simplification" to the trial courts; and that "the overwhelming business of the trial courts is to interpret and enforce provisions of state law and to resolve disputes among the people of the State of California."¹³³ Statutes were enacted to provide that "no county or city and county shall be responsible to provide funding for 'court operations' as defined in Section 77003 and Rule 810 of the

¹³² Exhibit F, Department of Finance, comments on the draft staff analysis filed August 22, 2014.
¹³³ Lockyer-Isenberg Trial Court Funding Act (Stats. 1997, ch. 850, § 2).

California Rules of Court as it read on July 1, 1996.¹³⁴ Counties provided partial funding for the program based on their costs for court operations in fiscal year 1994-1995, but any increased costs for court operations were paid by the state.¹³⁵ By 1998-1999, the state provided counties additional relief by reducing their payments for court operations. As a result, the payments for counties with a population of less than 70,000 were reduced to \$0; the state paid the costs of all court operations in those counties. Only 20 of the largest counties were required to make payments for court operations at a reduced rate.¹³⁶

When the Legislature enacted the Superior Court Law Enforcement Act of 2002 (SB 1396; adding Gov. Code §§ 69920, et seq.) to clarify the allowable costs paid by the state for the sheriff court security services component of court operations, it continued to pay *all* costs for salary, wages, and benefits provided by the county for sheriff supervisory and line personnel performing court security services, as long as those costs were properly billed by the county before January 1, 2003.¹³⁷ The Legislature further clarified in the 2002 Act that "[n]othing in this article may increase a county's obligation or require any county to assume the responsibility for a cost of any service that was defined as a court operation cost . . . [in] Function 8 of Rule 810 of the California Rules of Court, as it read on July 1, 1996^{*138} Under the Trial Court Funding Program, any increases in expenditures for court operations were intended to stay with the state.¹³⁹ Thus, the state had the primary responsibility of funding court operations under prior law.

In addition, although the counties continued to provide security services in criminal and delinquency actions of the court after the 1997 Trial Court Funding Act, the level of service provided to the trial courts was no longer within the sole discretion of the county. The level of service was subject to an annual or multi-year memorandum of understanding between the county sheriff's department and the superior court in the county, with funding allocations subject to the approval of the Judicial Council.¹⁴⁰ The county board of supervisors no longer approved expenditures for court operations; the approval was now made by the presiding judge.¹⁴¹ Counties were also relieved of other administrative responsibilities for court operations, including the duty to submit a report to the Judicial Council regarding trial court revenues and

¹³⁴ Government Code section 68073 (Stats. 1997, ch. 850); renumbered to section 70311 (Stats. 2002, ch. 1010).

¹³⁵ Lockyer-Isenberg Trial Court Funding Act (Stats. 1997, ch. 850, §§ 2 and 3); Government Code sections 77200 and 77201; Exhibit G, Judicial Council of California, Resource Manual on Trial Court Funding, dated December 19, 1997, at pages 48-49.

¹³⁶ Government Code section 77201.1, as added by Statutes 1997, chapter 850, section 46.

¹³⁷ See analysis in section 2(b), above.

¹³⁸ Government Code section 69927 (Stats. 2002, ch. 1010).

¹³⁹ Statutes 1997, chapter 850, section 3.

¹⁴⁰ Government Code section 69926(c) (Stats. 2002, ch. 1010).

¹⁴¹ Government Code section 77009 (Stats. 1997, ch. 850).

expenditures, which was shifted from the county to the court,¹⁴² and the responsibility to conduct a biennial audit of the trial court accounts, which was shifted to the SCO.¹⁴³ Thus, the administrative and financial responsibilities for the operation of the court were no longer with the counties at the time the 2009 test claim statute was enacted.

Although the state was required to assume the financial responsibility for any increases in expenditures for court operations under the Trial Court Funding Program, the 2009 test claim statute excluded the cost of retiree health benefits from the cost of court operations, effective July 28, 2009, shifting partial financial responsibility for the court operations program from the state to the counties. To hold, under the circumstances of this case, that a partial shift in funding of an existing program from the state to the county is not a new program or higher level of service, would violate the intent of article XIII B, section 6. Section 6 was intended to preclude the state from shifting to local agencies the financial responsibility for providing services the state believed should be extended to the public in view of the constitutional restrictions on the taxing and spending power of the local entities.¹⁴⁴ The facts in this case are no different than those in *County of San Diego*, where the court found a reimbursable state-mandated program when the state excluded medically indigent adults from the state's Medi-Cal program, transferring the cost of the program to counties under their existing statutory requirement to provide care to indigents as a last resort. Although the state argued, like it does here, that reimbursement is not required because counties have always had the responsibility to provide indigent care, the court disagreed and stated the following:

Under the state's interpretation of that section, because section 17000 was enacted before 1975, the Legislature could eliminate the entire Medi-Cal program and shift to the counties under section 17000 complete financial responsibility for medical care that the state has been providing since 1966. However, the taxing and spending limitations imposed by articles XIII A and XIII B would greatly limit the ability of counties to meet their expanded section 17000 obligation. "County taxpayers would be forced to accept new taxes or see the county forced to cut existing programs further" [Citations omitted.] As we have explained, the voters, recognizing that articles XIII A and XIII B left counties "ill equipped" to assume such increased financial responsibilities, adopted section 6 precisely to avoid this result. [Citation omitted.] Thus, it was the voters who decreed that we must, as the state puts it, "focus on one phase in the shifting pattern of financial arrangements" between the state and the counties. Under section 6, the state simply cannot "compel [counties] to accept financial responsibility in whole or in part for a program which was funded entirely by the state before the advent of article XIII B" [Citation omitted.]¹⁴⁵

¹⁴² Government Code section 68113, as amended by Statutes 1997, chapter 850, section 33.

¹⁴³ Government Code sections 71383 and 77009, as added and amended by Statutes 1997, chapter 850, sections 34 and 44.

¹⁴⁴ Lucia Mar, supra, 44 Cal.3d at pages 835-836.

¹⁴⁵ County of San Diego, supra, 15 Cal.4th at pages 98-99.

With the adoption of article XIII B, section 6(c), the state cannot shift from itself to counties financial responsibility, in whole or in part, for a program which was partially funded by the state before the enactment of the test claim statute. Accordingly, the Commission finds that section 69926(b), as amended in 2009, imposes a new program or higher level of service on counties within the meaning of article XIII B, section 6(c) for the partial shift of financial responsibility for providing sheriff court security services for the trial court operations program.

- C. The Statutes 2009 (4th Ex. Sess.), chapter 22 amendment to Government Code section 69926(b) imposes costs mandated by the state within the meaning of article XIII B, section 6 and Government Code section 17514.
 - 1. <u>The required program here is **not** the payment of benefits, but the responsibility to provide security services for the trial court operations program, which is legally compelled by state law. The cost of retiree health benefits is simply a cost component of the mandated program.</u>

Even though the transfer of financial responsibility for the court operations program is new and increases the level of service provided by counties, DOF and the Judicial Council argue that there is no state law requiring the county to pay retiree health benefits to sheriff deputies since the benefit is subject to local collective bargaining agreements. Thus, they argue that any transfer of financial responsibility is triggered by a discretionary decision of the county and is not mandated by the state.¹⁴⁶

In order for the retiree health benefit costs to be eligible for reimbursement, the costs incurred must be mandated by the state. Whether a statute imposes a state-mandated program has been the subject of prior litigation. In *City of Merced*, the court held that a statute amending the eminent domain law to require compensation for business goodwill is not a reimbursable cost since the city was not required by state law to obtain property by eminent domain.¹⁴⁷ The program permitting the use of the eminent domain power was voluntary. The court stated the following:

[W]hether a city or county decides to exercise eminent domain is, essentially, an option of the city or county, rather than a mandate of the state. The fundamental concept is that the city or county is not required to exercise eminent domain. If, however, the power of eminent domain is exercised, then the city will be required to pay for loss of goodwill. Thus, payment for loss of goodwill is not a statemandated cost.¹⁴⁸

¹⁴⁶ In this respect, Finance argues that counties imposed the contractual obligation to pay vested retiree benefits on themselves, citing *State ex rel. Pension Obligation Bond Com. v. All Persons Interested etc.* (2007) 152 Cal.App.4th 1386, 1406, which found the "the fact that the state has a contractual obligation to maintain pension benefits does not mean the obligation is one imposed on the state by law. Rather, ... it is an obligation the Legislature imposed on itself." (Exhibit F, Department of Finance's comments on the draft staff analysis filed August 22, 2014.)

¹⁴⁷ City of Merced v. State of California (1984) 153 Cal.App.3d 777.

¹⁴⁸ *Id.* at page 783.

In *Kern High School Dist.*, the California Supreme Court held that statutes requiring school site councils and advisory committees for certain grant-funded educational programs to provide a notice and agenda of their meetings was not mandated by the state.¹⁴⁹ The Supreme Court determined that school districts had the option of participating in the funded programs and, thus, they were not legally compelled to incur the notice and agenda costs. The court affirmed the holding in *City of Merced*, finding that "the core point . . . is that activities undertaken at the option or discretion of a local government entity (that is, action undertaken without any legal compulsion or threat of penalty for nonparticipation) do not trigger a state mandate"¹⁵⁰

Finance and Judicial Council would have the Commission apply *City of Merced* and *Kern High School Dist*. here to deny the test claim. The Commission disagrees.

It is correct that the state does not require counties to provide retiree health care benefits to employees, since counties are authorized to negotiate those benefits with employee groups through the collective bargaining process. (Gov. Code, §§ 3500-3510). It is also correct that a prior decision to provide retiree health care benefits to sheriff employees providing court security services as part of the trial court operations program *may affect* the amount of reimbursement due in this case.

However, the required program here is *not* the payment of benefits, but the responsibility to provide security services for the trial court operations program, and that responsibility is legally compelled by state law. As stated earlier in this analysis, the court in *Lucia Mar Unified School Dist.*, held that the fact that the code section in that case required local school districts to contribute funds to operate the state schools for the handicapped, rather than themselves administering the program, does not detract from the conclusion that the statute calls for the establishment of a new program within the meaning of article XIII B, section 6.¹⁵¹ The court held that "unquestionably, the contributions called for in section 59300 are used to fund a 'program' within this definition [article XIII B, section 6], for the education of handicapped children is clearly a governmental function of providing a service to the public, and the section imposes requirements on school districts not imposed on all the state's residents."¹⁵² In addition, the program was "new" to local school districts since at the time section 59300 became effective, school districts were not required to contribute to the education of students from their districts at state-administered schools.¹⁵³ The court further stated that:

To hold, under the circumstances of this case, that a shift in funding of an existing program from the state to a local entity is not a new program as to the local agency would, we think, violate the intent underlying section 6 of article XIII B. That article imposes spending limits on state and local governments, and it followed by one year the adoption by initiative of article XIII A, which severely

¹⁴⁹ Kern High School Dist., supra, 30 Cal.4th 727, 745.

¹⁵⁰ *Id.* at page 742.

¹⁵¹ Lucia Mar, supra, 44 Cal.3d at pages 835-836.

¹⁵² *Id.* at page 835.

¹⁵³ *Ibid*.

limited the taxing power of local governments. Section 6 was intended to preclude the state from shifting to local agencies the financial responsibility for providing public services in view of these restrictions on the taxing and spending power of the local entities.¹⁵⁴

The Supreme Court did not find that the "required program" was the financial contribution, but the provision of educational services to students. Similarly, the program here requires counties to provide sheriff court security services for the court operations program, which undeniably provides a service to the public. A local decision to provide retiree health care benefits to county employees is not a decision that triggers the duty to comply with the trial court operations program. Unlike *City of Merced* and *Kern High School Dist.*, counties are required by law to provide sheriff court security services under the trial court operations program for criminal and delinquency matters *regardless* of their local decisions on salaries, pensions, and benefits, including retiree health care benefits.

Moreover, in *San Diego Unified School Dist.*, the California Supreme Court discussed the reach of the *City of Merced* case and rejected extending its holding whenever some element of discretion is involved with respect to employment decisions that affect the costs incurred for a mandated program. The court determined, for example, that the voters who adopted article XIII B, section 6 did not intend that costs related to how many employees a local agency hires could control or avoid reimbursement for state-mandated programs. The court stated the following:

Indeed, it would appear that under a strict application of the language of *City of* Merced, public entities would be denied reimbursement for state-mandated costs in apparent contravention of the intent underlying article XIII B, section 6 of the state Constitution and Government Code section 17514 and contrary to past decisions in which it has been established that reimbursement was in fact proper. For example, in *Carmel Valley* [citation omitted] an executive order requiring that county firefighters be provided with protective clothing and safety equipment was found to create a reimbursable state mandate for the added costs of such clothing and equipment. [Citation omitted.] The court in Carmel Valley apparently did not contemplate that reimbursement would be foreclosed in that setting merely because a local agency possessed discretion concerning how many firefighters it would employ – and hence, in that sense, could control or perhaps even avoid the extra costs to which it would be subjected. Yet, under a strict application of the rule gleaned from *City of Merced* [citation omitted], such costs would not be reimbursable for the simple reason that the local agency's decision to employ firefighters involves an exercise of discretion concerning, for example, how many firefighters are needed to be employed, etc. We find it doubtful that the voters who enacted article XIII B, section 6, or the Legislature that adopted Government Code section 17514, intended that result, and hence we are reluctant to endorse, in

¹⁵⁴ *Lucia Mar, supra*, 44 Cal.3d at pages 835-836.

this case, an application of the rule of *City of Merced* that might lead to such result.¹⁵⁵

Thus, the *City of Merced* and *Kern High School Dist.* cases do not apply here. The cost of retiree health benefits is simply a cost component of the required program to provide security services for the trial court operations program. Article XIII B, section 6, requires that all costs mandated by the state, including all direct and indirect costs of a program, are eligible for reimbursement.¹⁵⁶ As stated in more detail in the section below, the Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Circular A-87 (2 CFR Part 225, Appendix B), a provision contained in all parameters and guidelines adopted by the Commission, allows reimbursement for salaries and benefits of local government employees, including specified retiree health benefit costs.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that a county's decision to pay retiree health benefits does not defeat the finding that the test claim statute results in costs mandated by the state.

2. <u>The fact that the counties' duty to provide sheriff court security services stems from a pre-1975 statute does not defeat the finding that the test claim statute results in costs mandated by the state.</u>

Moreover, it is not relevant that the counties' duty to provide sheriff court security services stems from a pre-1975 statute.¹⁵⁷ In *County of San Diego*, the state argued that reimbursement was not required when the state excluded medically indigent adults from the state's Medi-Cal program, shifting the duty to care for medically indigent adults to counties pursuant to Welfare and Institutions Code section 17000, a pre-1975 statute. The court held that the test claim statute still mandated a "new program" on counties by compelling them to accept financial responsibility in whole or in part for a program for the care of medically indigent adults, "which was previously funded by the state.¹⁵⁸ The court stated the following:

Under the state's interpretation of that section, because section 17000 was enacted before 1975, the Legislature could eliminate the entire Medi-Cal program and shift to the counties under section 17000 complete financial responsibility for medical care that the state has been providing since 1966. However, the taxing and spending limitations imposed by articles XIII A and XIII B would greatly limit the ability of counties to meet their expanded section 17000 obligation. "County taxpayers would be forced to accept new taxes or see the county forced to cut existing programs further …." [Citations omitted.] As we have explained, the voters, recognizing that articles XIII A and XIII B left counties "ill equipped" to assume such increased financial responsibilities, adopted section 6 precisely to avoid this result. [Citation omitted.] Thus, it was the voters who decreed that we

¹⁵⁷ Government Code 69922 (derived from former Political Code sections 4176 and 4157; Stats.
1941, ch. 1110, Stats. 1923, ch. 108, Stats. 1897, ch. 277, Stats. 1893, ch. 234, Stats. 1891, ch.
216 and Stats. 1883, ch. 75).

¹⁵⁸ *Id.* at page 98.

¹⁵⁵ *Id.* at pages 887-888.

¹⁵⁶ Government Code sections 17514, 17561.

must, as the state puts it, "focus on one phase in the shifting pattern of financial arrangements" between the state and the counties. Under section 6, the state simply cannot "compel [counties] to accept financial responsibility in whole or in part for a program which was funded entirely by the state before the advent of article XIII B" [Citation omitted.]¹⁵⁹

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the Statutes 2009 (4th Ex. Sess.), chapter 22 amendment to Government Code section 69926(b) imposes costs mandated by the state within the meaning of article XIII B, section 6 and Government Code section 17514, for the partial shift of financial responsibility for providing sheriff court security services for the trial court operations program.

3. <u>The retiree health benefit costs eligible for reimbursement as "costs mandated by the state" are (1) the amounts actually paid by the county in the claimed fiscal year to prefund benefits earned by county employees providing sheriff court security services in criminal and delinquency matters in the claimed fiscal year, and (2) the amounts actually paid in the claimed fiscal year to reduce an existing unfunded liability for the health benefit costs previously earned by a county employee providing sheriff court security services in criminal and delinquency matters.</u>

Under mandates law, a county must demonstrate actual costs incurred in a fiscal year to be reimbursed. Increased actual expenditures of limited tax proceeds that are counted against the local government's spending limit are the costs that are eligible for reimbursement.¹⁶⁰ "We can only conclude that when the Constitution uses 'costs' in the context of subvention of funds to reimburse for 'the costs of such program,' that some actual cost must be demonstrated "¹⁶¹ In this case, whether retiree health benefit "costs" have actually been incurred and can be demonstrated, will depend on how a county funds retiree health benefits.

Retiree health benefits, like salaries and pensions, are earned during an employee's working years. Several sources indicate, however, that most counties have historically funded these benefits on a "pay-as-you-go" basis *after* the employee retires. If a county has adopted the pay-as-you-go method, the county does not pre-fund retiree health benefit costs in the year services are provided like it does for pensions by making annual contributions to either the normal (or current) cost of the benefit or to unfunded liabilities associated with the benefit, but instead pays premium costs for retiree health benefits as the costs are incurred *after* employees have retired.¹⁶² Thus, the pay-as-you-go method shifts current retiree health benefit costs earned by

¹⁵⁹ *Id.* at pages 98-99.

¹⁶⁰ Government Code section 17514; *County of Sonoma v. Commission on State Mandates* (2000) 84 Cal.App.4th 1264, 1284; see also, *County of Fresno v. State of California* (1990) 53 Cal.3d 482, 487, where the court noted that article XIII B, section 6 was "designed to protect the tax revenues of local government from state mandates that would require expenditure of such revenues."

¹⁶¹ County of Sonoma, supra, 84 Cal.App.4th at page 1285.

¹⁶² In *Retired Employees Association of Orange County, Inc. v. County of Orange* (2011) 52 Cal.4th 1171, 1188, the League of Cities and California State Association of Counties filed the employee in the current year to future taxpayers.¹⁶³ In past years, these costs were reported by the county only after retirement, and were not reflected as a cost or obligation incurred as counties receive employee services each year.

In 2004, however, the Government Accounting Standards Board (GASB) issued statement 45 (GASB 45), which was intended to address the financial reporting of governmental entities using the pay-as-you-go approach for these types of post-employment benefits. GASB 45 requires all government entities, including counties, to start documenting in their accounting and financial reporting statements the unfunded liabilities for post-employment benefits, including retiree health benefits, by December 15, 2008. The liabilities for retiree health benefits, like those for pension systems, will be determined by actuaries and accountants based on assumptions of future

amicus briefs stating that "retiree health insurance benefits, unlike pensions, are not funded during the retiree's working years; that most of these benefits have been funded on a pay-as-yougo basis [*after* employees retire]...." This information is consistent with findings of the Public Post-Employment Benefits Commission, established under former Governor Schwarzenegger's Executive Order (S-25-06) dated December 28, 2006. The January 1, 2008 report issued by the Public Post-Employment Benefits Commission states, on pages 24 and 219, that the pay-as-yougo method for funding retiree health costs continues to be the predominate funding strategy used by those agencies and that 78 percent of the agencies do not prefund these benefits. And, finally, the LAO, in its December 19, 2013 review of an initiative for the 2014 ballot that proposes to amend the Constitution related to pensions for state and local governmental employees states the following:

Unlike pension plans, few government employers prefund retiree health benefits. That is, most government employers and employees do not make annual contributions to either the normal cost or unfunded liabilities associated with the benefit. Instead, employers pay premium costs for retiree health benefits as they incur after employees have retired – a method or payment referred to as "pay-asyou-go." Some government employers recently started prefunding these benefits. In 2010-2011, the state paid about \$1.4 billion towards these benefits for retired state and CSU employees. We estimate that local employers paid an equal or greater sum for these benefits for their employees and retirees.

¹⁶³ Exhibit G, "Retiree Health Care: A Growing Cost for Government," LAO, February 17, 2006. The LAO report states the following:

The state (and nearly every other public entity nationwide) does not pay its current (or normal) costs for retiree health benefits each year. Consequently, the state fails to reflect in its budget the true costs of its current workforce. Since 1961, the state has been shifting costs to future taxpayers. The tens of billions of dollars in unfunded liabilities now owed by the state is the result of this approach. For this reason, the pay-as-you-go approach to retiree health care conflicts with a basic principle of public finance – expenses should be paid for in the year they are incurred. This principle requires decision makers to be accountable – through current budgetary spending – for the cost of whatever future benefits may be promised.

health care cost inflation, retiree mortality, and investment returns. "This unfunded liability can be characterized as an amount, which, *if invested today*, would be sufficient (with future investment returns) to cover the future costs of all retiree health benefits *already earned* by current and past employees."¹⁶⁴

Under GASB 45, government financial statements will list an actuarially determined amount known as an annual required contribution (ARC) for post-employment benefits like retiree health benefits. This contribution includes the following two costs:

- The normal cost which represents that amount that needs to be set aside to fund future retiree health benefits *earned in the current year*.
- Unfunded liability costs the amount needed to pay off *existing unfunded retiree health liabilities* over a period of no longer than 30 years.¹⁶⁵

GASB 45, however, does not address how a governmental entity actually finances retiree health benefits, since that is a local policy decision. Thus, even though a county is required to report the amount needed to be set aside to fund future retiree health benefits earned in the current year and the existing unfunded retiree health liabilities, a county may continue to actually fund all retiree health benefit costs *after* employee retirements on a pay-as-you-go basis. When that occurs, 100 percent of the retiree health benefit costs will be an unfunded liability payable in future years.¹⁶⁶

If a county defers payment for retiree health benefit costs until after their employees retire, the amounts reported in the annual financial statements as the county's annual required contribution pursuant to GASB 45 are not considered costs actually incurred by the entity in the fiscal year of reporting. Rather, as described in the case of *County of Orange v. Association of Orange County Deputy Sheriffs*, the unfunded liability simply represents an estimate projecting future contributions necessary to fund the benefit.¹⁶⁷ In *County of Orange*, the court addressed the issue whether the county's estimated unfunded actuarial accrued liability (UAAL) for pension benefits represented a debt subject to the municipal debt limitation imposed by the California Constitution, which prohibits a county from encumbering its general funds beyond the year's income without first obtaining the consent of two-thirds of the electorate.¹⁶⁸ Under the facts of the case, the county approved a pension increase for sheriff deputies to 3 percent at 50 in 2001, and renewed that agreement in subsequent contracts with the employee union for several years. Before adopting the resolution, the county secured an actuarial report that analyzed the financial impact of adopting the 3 percent at 50 formula for all years of service, both past and future, estimating the increase in the county's actuarial accrued liability between \$99 and \$100 million.

¹⁶⁴ *Ibid*; see also, Exhibit G, "GASB Statement 45 on OPEB Accounting by Governments, A Few Basic Questions and Answers."

¹⁶⁷ County of Orange v. Association of Orange County Deputy Sheriffs (2011) 192 Cal.App.4th 21, 28, 36-37.

¹⁶⁸ *Id.* at page 33, referring to article XVI, section 18 of the California Constitution.

¹⁶⁵ *Ibid*.

¹⁶⁶ *Ibid*.

A 2007 actuarial analysis concluded that the past service portion of the increased retirement benefit totaled \$187 million. In 2008, the county adopted a resolution finding that, despite its prior resolutions increasing benefits, the enhanced benefits were unconstitutional.¹⁶⁹ The court held, however, that the unfunded actuarial accrued liability for the pension benefits did not constitute a debt or liability of the county, but an estimate projecting future contributions necessary to fund the benefit.¹⁷⁰ The court found persuasive a 1982 Attorney General's Opinion, finding that the state's unfunded liability for retirement did not violate the state debt limitation provision because the liability was based on estimates with no legally enforceable obligation yet existing, and applied that reasoning to the county's unfunded pension liability.

In 1982, the Attorney General concluded that the state retirement system's "unfunded liability" did not violate the state debt limitation provision. The Attorney General explained that "[d]etermining how much income to the [state] Fund is necessary to pay all benefits as they become due is the business of actuaries. Actuaries predict future financial operations of an insurance or retirement system by making certain assumptions regarding the variables in the system." (65 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 571, 572 (1982).)

The state Public Employees' Retirement System (PERS) actuarial balance sheet showed an "unfunded actuarial liability" above the state debt limitation amount. The Attorney General concluded: "The actuarial term 'unfunded liability' fails to quantify as a legally enforceable obligation of any kind. As previously noted the very existence of such an 'unfunded liability' depends upon the making of an actuarial evaluation and the use of an evaluation method which utilizes the concept of an 'unfunded liability.' Further the amount of such an 'unfunded liability' in the actuarial evaluation of a pension system will depend upon how that term is defined for the particular valuation method employed. Finally the amount of such an 'unfunded liability,' however defined for the method used, depends upon many assumptions made regarding future events such as size of work force, benefits, inflation, earnings on investments, etc. In other words an 'unfunded liability' is simply a projection made by actuaries based upon assumptions regarding future events. No basis for any legally enforceable obligation arises until the events occur and when they do the amount of liability will be based on actual experience rather than projections." (65 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen., *supra*, at p. 574, italics added.) Such calculations did not result in a legally binding debt or liability, but instead provided "useful guidance in determining the contributions necessary to fund a pension system." (Ibid.)

... We find the analysis in the 1982 opinion persuasive, and that analysis supports the conclusion that a UAAL such as the \$100 million cited by the County in this case is an actuarial estimate projecting the impact of a change in a

¹⁶⁹ *Id.* at pages 29-30.

¹⁷⁰ *Id.* at pages 36-37.

benefit plan, rather than a legally enforceable obligation measured at the time of the County's 2001 resolution approving the 3% at 50 formula.¹⁷¹

The same reasoning applies to the unfunded projected costs of retiree health benefits that are reported by counties, which have adopted a pay-as-you-go approach, in their annual financial statements prepared in accordance with GASB 45. Those unfunded amounts, like pension projections, are simply estimates prepared by actuaries. With a pay-as-you-go approach, those amounts do not become actual debt or enforceable obligations until after the employee retires. And, as indicated above, amounts paid by a county in a current fiscal year after the employee retires are *not* costs that have been transferred by the test claim statute. Nor are those projected costs considered "actual costs incurred" within the meaning of article XIII B, section 6 because the projected estimates do not require the county to expend its limited tax revenues in the reporting year.¹⁷²

However, some local government employers have recently started to prefund their retiree health benefits, making annual contributions as current year costs.¹⁷³ In its comprehensive annual financial report for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2012, the County of Los Angeles reported that the county's contribution during fiscal year 2011-2012 for health care benefits for retirees and their dependents was on a pay-as-you-go basis only. However, in May 2012, the County established a trust account for the purpose of holding and investing assets to prefund the retiree health program. The report states the following:

The OPEB Trust is the County's first step to reduce its OPEB unfunded liability. It will provide a framework where the Board of Supervisors can begin making contributions to the trust and transition, over time, from "pay-as-you-go" to "pre-funding." The OPEB Trust does not modify the County's benefit programs.¹⁷⁴

In the County's annual financial report for fiscal year ending June 30, 2013, it reports that the "During FY 2012-2013, the County made contributions to prefund the growing liability for retiree healthcare benefits in the amount of \$448.8 million."¹⁷⁵ The report shows a 2012-2013 contribution made by the county in the amount of \$889,871 for retiree health benefits for county employees, a portion of which would be applicable to county sheriff employees providing sheriff court security services in criminal and delinquency matters.¹⁷⁶

Thus, the Commission finds that the amounts actually contributed by a county each fiscal year after the enactment of the 2009 test claim statute to prefund the future retiree health benefit costs

¹⁷¹ *Ibid*.

¹⁷² County of Fresno, supra, 53 Cal.3d at page 487.

¹⁷³ Exhibit G, LAO Review of proposed 2014 initiative on the Pension Reform Act, December 19, 2013.

¹⁷⁴ Exhibit G, County of Los Angeles, Comprehensive Annual Financial Report, Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2012, pages 79-82.

¹⁷⁵ Exhibit G, County of Los Angeles, Comprehensive Annual Financial Report, Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013, page 86.

¹⁷⁶ *Ibid*.

earned in the current fiscal year of an employee providing court security services in criminal and delinquency matters are the costs that are mandated by the state and require the county to expend tax revenues in that fiscal year for court operations. This finding is consistent with the Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Circular A-87 (2 CFR Part 225, Appendix B(f)), a provision contained in all parameters and guidelines adopted by the Commission, which allows reimbursement for only those retiree health benefit costs that are funded for that fiscal year and have been paid to either (a) an insurer or other benefit provider as current year costs or premiums, or (b) an insurer or trustee to maintain a trust fund or reserve for the sole purpose of providing post-retirement benefits to retirees and other beneficiaries.¹⁷⁷

OMB Circular A-87 also allows as a reimbursable cost for retiree health benefits, actual amounts paid by a county in a current fiscal year to an insurer, benefit provider, or trustee to cover any existing unfunded liability attributable to the retiree health benefit costs earned in prior years by county employees providing sheriff court security services in criminal and delinquency matters, if that liability is amortized over a period of years. In this respect, 2 CFR Part 225, Appendix B(f)(4) states that "when a governmental unit converts to an acceptable actuarial cost method and funds PRHB [post-retirement health benefit] costs in accordance with this method, the initial unfunded liability attributable to prior years shall be allowable if amortized over a period of years in accordance with GAAP, or, if no such GAAP period exists, over a period negotiated with the cognizant agency." The Commission finds that the amounts actually contributed by a county each fiscal year after the enactment of the 2009 test claim statute to reduce an existing unfunded liability of health benefit costs earned by county employees providing court security services in criminal and delinquency matters are also costs that represent the new program or higher level of service and require the county to expend tax revenues for court operations in that fiscal year.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that Government Code section 69927(b), as amended by Statutes 2009-2010 (4th Ex. Sess.), chapter 22, mandates a new program or higher level of service and imposes costs mandated by the state within the meaning of article XIII B, section 6(c) for the following costs incurred from July 28, 2009, to June 27, 2012, only for those counties that previously included retiree health benefit costs in its cost for court operations and billed those costs to the state under the Trial Court Funding Program before January 1, 2003:

• Amounts actually paid in the claimed fiscal year to an insurer, other benefit provider, or trustee to prefund the future retiree health benefit costs earned by county employees in the claimed fiscal year who provided court security services in criminal and delinquency matters pursuant to Government Code section 69922; and

¹⁷⁷ Finance argues that the counties' discretion to prefund retiree health benefits determine whether the costs are reimbursable, which inappropriately places the ability to receive mandate reimbursement within local control. (Exhibit F, Department of Finance's comments on the draft staff analysis filed August 22, 2014.) As described in Section c, this is *not* a decision that triggers the shift of partial responsibility from the state to counties to pay for the court operations program and, thus, has no bearing on whether reimbursement is required. The analysis in this section simply identifies the actual cost that has been shifted in a fiscal year and limits reimbursement to only those costs actually incurred during the period of reimbursement. • Amounts actually paid in the claimed fiscal year to an insurer, other benefit provider, or trustee to reduce an existing unfunded liability of the county for the health benefit costs previously earned by county employees who provided court security services in criminal and delinquency matters pursuant to Government Code section 69922.

Current health benefit premiums paid to retirees or their beneficiaries after retirement on a payas-you-go basis have not been transferred by the state and do not constitute costs mandated by the state.

4. <u>Offsetting revenue intended to pay for sheriff court security costs, including those costs</u> for retiree health benefits, has been provided by the state for fiscal year 2011-2012.

Statutes 2011, chapter 40, commonly cited as "the 2011 Realignment," created the account structure and allocations to fund realigned local costs in fiscal year 2011-2012. The 2011 Realignment added Government Code section 30025 to create the Local Revenue Fund 2011, which includes the Trial Court Security Account. Funding transferred into the Local Revenue Fund shall be allocated exclusively for the services defined in section 30025(h). Section 30025(h)(1) defines "public safety services" to include "employing ... court security staff." Section 30025(f)(3) states that "the moneys in the Trial Court Security Account shall be used exclusively to fund trial court security provided by county sheriffs." The Act also added Government Code section 30027 to allocate funds to the Controller for the Trial Court Security Account. Security Account. Section 30027(c)(1) states that "no more than four hundred ninety-six million four hundred twenty-nine thousand dollars (\$496,429,000) in total shall be allocated to the Trial Court Security Account, and the total allocation shall be reduced by the Director of Finance, as appropriate, to reflect any reduction in trial court security costs."

Thus, funding allocated for trial court security costs provided by county sheriffs and used by the county to pre-fund the costs of retiree health benefits of existing employees performing the mandate, shall be identified in any reimbursement claim and deducted from any costs claimed under this mandated program.

V. CONCLUSION

The Commission concludes that Government Code section 69926(b), as amended by Statutes 2009-2010 (4th Ex. Sess.), chapter 22, constitutes a reimbursable state-mandated program within the meaning of article XIII B, section 6(c) for the following costs incurred from July 28, 2009, to June 27, 2012, only for those counties that previously included retiree health benefit costs in its cost for court operations and billed those costs to the state under the Trial Court Funding Program before January 1, 2003, and only for employees that provide sheriff court security services in criminal and delinquency matters:

- Amounts actually paid in the claimed fiscal year to an insurer, other benefit provider, or trustee to prefund the future retiree health benefit costs earned by county employees in the claimed fiscal year who provided court security services in criminal and delinquency matters pursuant to Government Code section 69922; and
- Amounts actually paid in the claimed fiscal year to an insurer, other benefit provider, or trustee to reduce an existing unfunded liability of the county for the health benefit costs previously earned by county employees who provided court security services in criminal and delinquency matters pursuant to Government Code section 69922.

In addition, revenue received by a county eligible to claim reimbursement from the 2011 Realignment (Gov. Code, §§ 30025, 30027, Stats. 2011, ch. 40) for this program in fiscal year 2011-2012 shall be identified and deducted as offsetting revenue from any claim for reimbursement.

All other statutes, rules, code sections, and allegations pled in this claim are denied.

STATE OF CALIFORNIA

COMMISSION ON STATE MANDATES 980 NINTH STREET, SUITE 300 SACRAMENTO, CA 95814 PHONE: (916) 323-3562 FAX: (916) 445-0278 E-mail: csminfo@csm.ca.gov



RE: Adopted Decision

Sheriff Court-Security Services, 09-TC-02 Government Code Section 69926(b) County of Los Angeles, Claimant

On December 5, 2014, the foregoing decision of the Commission on State Mandates was adopted in the above-entitled matter

Heather Halsey, Executive Director

Dated: December 12, 2014

DECLARATION OF SERVICE BY EMAIL

I, the undersigned, declare as follows:

I am a resident of the County of Solano and I am over the age of 18 years, and not a party to the within action. My place of employment is 980 Ninth Street, Suite 300, Sacramento, California 95814.

On December 12, 2014, I served the:

Test Claim Decision, Draft Expedited Parameters and Guidelines, and Notice of Hearing *Sheriff Court-Security Services*, 09-TC-02 Government Code Sections 69920 et al. County of Los Angeles, Claimant

by making it available on the Commission's website and providing notice of how to locate it to the email addresses provided on the attached mailing list.

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing is true and correct, and that this declaration was executed on December 12, 2014 at Sacramento, California.

Zablik

Heidi J. Palchik Commission on State Mandates 980 Ninth Street, Suite 300 Sacramento, CA 95814 (916) 323-3562

COMMISSION ON STATE MANDATES

Mailing List

Last Updated: 11/19/14

Claim Number: 09-TC-02

Matter: Sheriff Court-Security Services

Claimant: County of Los Angeles

TO ALL PARTIES, INTERESTED PARTIES, AND INTERESTED PERSONS:

Each commission mailing list is continuously updated as requests are received to include or remove any party or person on the mailing list. A current mailing list is provided with commission correspondence, and a copy of the current mailing list is available upon request at any time. Except as provided otherwise by commission rule, when a party or interested party files any written material with the commission concerning a claim, it shall simultaneously serve a copy of the written material on the parties and interested parties to the claim identified on the mailing list provided by the commission. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 2, § 1181.3.)

Socorro Aquino, State Controller's Office Division of Audits, 3301 C Street, Suite 700, Sacramento, CA 95816 Phone: (916) 322-7522 SAquino@sco.ca.gov

Harmeet Barkschat, *Mandate Resource Services,LLC* 5325 Elkhorn Blvd. #307, Sacramento, CA 95842 Phone: (916) 727-1350 harmeet@calsdrc.com

Lacey Baysinger, State Controller's Office Division of Accounting and Reporting, 3301 C Street, Suite 700, Sacramento, CA 95816 Phone: (916) 324-0254 Ibaysinger@sco.ca.gov

Allan Burdick, 7525 Myrtle Vista Avenue, Sacramento, CA 95831 Phone: (916) 203-3608 allanburdick@gmail.com

J. Bradley Burgess, *MGT of America* 895 La Sierra Drive, Sacramento, CA 95864 Phone: (916)595-2646 Bburgess@mgtamer.com

Michael Byrne, *Department of Finance* 915 L Street, 8th Floor, Sacramento, CA 95814 Phone: (916) 445-3274 michael.byrne@dof.ca.gov

Gwendolyn Carlos, *State Controller's Office* Division of Accounting and Reporting, 3301 C Street, Suite 700, Sacramento, CA 95816 Phone: (916) 323-0706 gcarlos@sco.ca.gov

Curtis Child, Chief Operating Officer, *Judicial Council of California* 2860 Gateway Oaks Drive, Suite 400, Sacramento, CA 95833 Phone: (916) 643-7030 curtis.child@jud.ca.gov

Annette Chinn, Cost Recovery Systems,Inc. 705-2 East Bidwell Street, #294, Folsom, CA 95630 Phone: (916) 939-7901 achinners@aol.com

Marieta Delfin, *State Controller's Office* Division of Accounting and Reporting, 3301 C Street, Suite 700, Sacramento, CA 95816 Phone: (916) 322-4320 mdelfin@sco.ca.gov

Tom Dyer, *Department of Finance (A-15)* 915 L Street, Sacramento, CA 95814 Phone: (916) 445-3274 tom.dyer@dof.ca.gov

Eric Feller, Commission on State Mandates 980 9th Street, Suite 300, Sacramento, CA 95814 Phone: (916) 323-3562 eric.feller@csm.ca.gov

Donna Ferebee, *Department of Finance* 915 L Street, Suite 1280, Sacramento, CA 95814 Phone: (916) 445-3274 donna.ferebee@dof.ca.gov

Susan Geanacou, *Department of Finance* 915 L Street, Suite 1280, Sacramento, CA 95814 Phone: (916) 445-3274 susan.geanacou@dof.ca.gov

Michael Giden, Supervision Attorney, *Judicial Council of California* 2255 North Ontario Street, Suite 220, Burbank, CA 91504 Phone: (818) 558-4802 michael.giden@jud.ca.gov

Dorothy Holzem, *California Special Districts Association* 1112 I Street, Suite 200, Sacramento, CA 95814 Phone: (916) 442-7887 dorothyh@csda.net

Martin Hoshino, Administrative Director, *Judicial Council of California* 455 Golden Gate Avenue, San Francisco, CA 94102 Phone: (415) 865-4200

59

martin.hoshino@jud.ca.gov

Mark Ibele, Senate Budget & Fiscal Review Committee California State Senate, State Capitol Room 5019, Sacramento, CA 95814 Phone: (916) 651-4103 Mark.Ibele@sen.ca.gov

Edward Jewik, County of Los Angeles Claimant Representative Auditor-Controller's Office, 500 W. Temple Street, Room 603, Los Angeles, CA 90012 Phone: (213) 974-8564 ejewik@auditor.lacounty.gov

Ferlyn Junio, *Nimbus Consulting Group,LLC* 2386 Fair Oaks Boulevard, Suite 104, Sacramento, CA 95825 Phone: (916) 480-9444 fjunio@nimbusconsultinggroup.com

Jill Kanemasu, State Controller's Office Division of Accounting and Reporting, 3301 C Street, Suite 700, Sacramento, CA 95816 Phone: (916) 322-9891 jkanemasu@sco.ca.gov

Anita Kerezsi, *AK & Company* 3531 Kersey Lane, Sacramento, CA 95864 Phone: (916) 972-1666 akcompany@um.att.com

Jean Kinney Hurst, Senior Legislative Representative, Revenue & Taxation, *California State Association of Counties (CSAC)* 1100 K Street, Suite 101, Sacramento, CA 95814-3941 Phone: (916) 327-7500 jhurst@counties.org

Jay Lal, State Controller's Office (B-08) Division of Accounting & Reporting, 3301 C Street, Suite 700, Sacramento, CA 95816 Phone: (916) 324-0256 JLal@sco.ca.gov

Kathleen Lynch, Department of Finance (A-15) 915 L Street, Suite 1280, 17th Floor, Sacramento, CA 95814 Phone: (916) 445-3274 kathleen.lynch@dof.ca.gov

Hortensia Mato, *City of Newport Beach* 100 Civic Center Drive, Newport Beach, CA 92660 Phone: (949) 644-3000 hmato@newportbeachca.gov

Martin Mayer, *California State Sheriffs' Association* 3777 North Harbor Boulevard, Fullerton, CA 92835 Phone: (714) 446-1400 mjm@jones-mayer.com

Michelle Mendoza, MAXIMUS

17310 Red Hill Avenue, Suite 340, Irvine, CA 95403 Phone: (949) 440-0845 michellemendoza@maximus.com

Meredith Miller, Director of SB90 Services, *MAXIMUS* 3130 Kilgore Road, Suite 400, Rancho Cordova, CA 95670 Phone: (972) 490-9990 meredithcmiller@maximus.com

John Naimo, Acting Auditor-Controller, *County of Los Angeles* Auditor-Controller, 500 West Temple Street, Room 525, Los Angeles, CA 90012 Phone: (213) 974-8302 jnaimo@auditor.lacounty.gov

Geoffrey Neill, Senior Legislative Analyst, Revenue & Taxation, *California State Association of Counties (CSAC)* 1100 K Street, Suite 101, Sacramento, CA 95814 Phone: (916) 327-7500 gneill@counties.org

Andy Nichols, *Nichols Consulting* 1857 44th Street, Sacramento, CA 95819 Phone: (916) 455-3939 andy@nichols-consulting.com

Marianne O'Malley, Legislative Analyst's Office (B-29) 925 L Street, Suite 1000, Sacramento, CA 95814 Phone: (916) 319-8315 marianne.O'malley@lao.ca.gov

Arthur Palkowitz, *Stutz Artiano Shinoff & Holtz* 2488 Historic Decatur Road, Suite 200, San Diego, CA 92106 Phone: (619) 232-3122 apalkowitz@sashlaw.com

Anita Peden, County of Sacramento 711 G Street, Room 405, Sacramento, CA 95814 Phone: (916) 874-8441 apeden@sacsheriff.com

Jai Prasad, County of San Bernardino Office of Auditor-Controller, 222 West Hospitality Lane, 4th Floor, San Bernardino, CA 92415-0018 Phone: (909) 386-8854 jai.prasad@atc.sbcounty.gov

Mark Rewolinski, *MAXIMUS* 625 Coolidge Drive, Suite 100, Folsom, CA 95630 Phone: (949) 440-0845 markrewolinski@maximus.com

Kathy Rios, *State Controller's Office* Division of Accounting and Reporting, 3301 C Street, Suite 700, Sacramento, CA 95816 Phone: (916) 324-5919 krios@sco.ca.gov

Lee Scott, Department of Finance 15 L Street, 8th Floor, Sacramento, CA 95814 Phone: (916) 445-3274 lee.scott@dof.ca.gov

Camille Shelton, *Commission on State Mandates* 980 9th Street, Suite 300, Sacramento, CA 95814 Phone: (916) 323-3562 camille.shelton@csm.ca.gov

Wayne Shimabukuro, County of San Bernardino

Auditor/Controller-Recorder-Treasurer-Tax Collector, 222 West Hospitality Lane, 4th Floor, San Bernardino, CA 92415-0018 Phone: (909) 386-8850 wayne.shimabukuro@atc.sbcounty.gov

Jim Spano, Chief, Mandated Cost Audits Bureau, *State Controller's Office* Division of Audits, 3301 C Street, Suite 700, Sacramento, CA 95816 Phone: (916) 323-5849 jspano@sco.ca.gov

Dennis Speciale, *State Controller's Office* Division of Accounting and Reporting, 3301 C Street, Suite 700, Sacramento, CA 95816 Phone: (916) 324-0254 DSpeciale@sco.ca.gov

Laura Speed, Assistant Director, *Judicial Council of California* Governmental Affairs, 2860 Gateway Oaks Drive, Suite 400, Sacramento, CA 95833 Phone: (916) 323-3121 laura.speed@jud.ca.gov

Meg Svoboda, Senate Office of Research 1020 N Street, Suite 200, Sacramento, CA Phone: (916) 651-1500 meg.svoboda@sen.ca.gov

Jolene Tollenaar, *MGT of America* 2001 P Street, Suite 200, Suite 200, Sacramento, CA 95811 Phone: (916) 443-9136 jolene_tollenaar@mgtamer.com

Evelyn Tseng, *City of Newport Beach* 100 Civic Center Drive, Newport Beach, CA 92660 Phone: (949) 644-3127 etseng@newportbeachca.gov

Brian Uhler, *Legislative Analyst's Office* 925 L Street, Suite 1000, Sacramento, CA 95814 Phone: (916) 319-8328 brian.uhler@lao.ca.gov

Renee Wellhouse, *David Wellhouse & Associates, Inc.* 3609 Bradshaw Road, H-382, Sacramento, CA 95927

Phone: (916) 797-4883 dwa-renee@surewest.net

Hasmik Yaghobyan, County of Los Angeles Auditor-Controller's Office, 500 W. Temple Street, Room 603, Los Angeles, CA 90012 Phone: (213) 974-9653 hyaghobyan@auditor.lacounty.gov

STATE OF CALIFORNIA

COMMISSION ON STATE MANDATES 980 NINTH STREET, SUITE 300 SACRAMENTO, CA 95814 PHONE: (916) 323-3562 FAX: (916) 445-0278 E-mail: csminfo@csm.ca.gov Exhibit B EDMUND G. BROWN JR., Governor



December 12, 2014

Mr. John Naimo County of Los Angeles, Auditor-Controller 500 West Temple Street, Room 525 Los Angeles, CA 90012 Mr. Ed Jewik County of Los Angeles, Auditor-Controller's Office 500 West Temple Street, Room 603 Los Angeles, CA 90012

And Parties, Interested Parties, and Interested Persons (See Mailing List)

Re: Test Claim Decision, Draft Expedited Parameters and Guidelines, and Notice of Hearing Sheriff Court-Security Services, 09-TC-02 Government Code Section 69926(b) County of Los Angeles, Claimant

Dear Mr. Naimo and Mr. Jewik:

On December 5, 2014, the Commission on State Mandates (Commission) adopted the test claim decision partially approving the above-entitled matter. State law provides that reimbursement, if any, is subject to Commission approval of parameters and guidelines for reimbursement of the mandated program, approval of a statewide cost estimate, a specific legislative appropriation for such purpose, a timely-filed claim for reimbursement, and subsequent review of the claim by the State Controller's Office.

Following is a description of the responsibilities of all parties and of the Commission during the parameters and guidelines phase.

Draft Expedited Parameters and Guidelines. Pursuant to California Code of Regulations, title 2, section 1183.9, the Commission staff is expediting the parameters and guidelines process by enclosing draft parameters and guidelines to assist the claimant. The proposed reimbursable activities are limited to those approved in the decision by the Commission.

<u>Review of Draft Expedited Parameters and Guidelines.</u> Proposed modifications and comments may be filed on staff's draft proposal by **January 2, 2015**. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 2, § 1183.9(c).)

<u>Rebuttals.</u> Written rebuttals may be submitted within 15 days of service of comments. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 2, § 1183.8(f).)

Adoption of Parameters and Guidelines. After review of the draft expedited parameters and guidelines and all proposed modifications and comments, Commission staff will prepare a proposed decision and recommend adoption by the Commission.

Reasonable Reimbursement Methodology and Statewide Estimate of Costs

<u>Test Claimant and Department of Finance Submission of Letter of Intent.</u> Within 30 days of the Commission's adoption of a decision on a test claim, the test claimant and the Department of Finance may notify the executive director of the Commission in writing of their intent to follow the process described in Government Code sections 17557.1–17557.2 and section 1183.11 of the Commission's regulations to develop a *joint reasonable reimbursement methodology* and

Mr. Naimo and Mr. Jewik December 12, 2014 Page 2

statewide estimate of costs for the initial claiming period and budget year for reimbursement of costs mandated by the state. The written notification shall provide all information and filing dates as specified in Government Code section 17557.1(a).

<u>Test Claimant and Department of Finance Submission of Draft Reasonable Reimbursement</u> <u>Methodology and Statewide Estimate of Costs.</u> Pursuant to the plan, the test claimant and the Department of Finance shall submit the *Draft Reasonable Reimbursement Methodology and Statewide Estimate of Costs* to the Commission. See Government Code section 17557.1 for guidance in preparing and filing a timely submission.

<u>Review of Proposed Reasonable Reimbursement Methodology and Statewide Estimate of Costs.</u> Upon receipt of the jointly developed proposals, Commission staff shall notify all recipients that they shall have the opportunity to review and provide written comments concerning the draft reasonable reimbursement methodology and proposed statewide estimate of costs within 15 days of service. The test claimant and Department of Finance may submit written rebuttals to Commission staff.

Adoption of Reasonable Reimbursement Methodology and Statewide Estimate of Costs. At least 10 days prior to the next hearing, Commission staff shall review comments and issue a staff recommendation on whether the Commission should approve the draft reasonable reimbursement methodology and adopt the proposed statewide estimate of costs pursuant to Government Code section 17557.2.

You are advised that comments filed with the Commission are required to be simultaneously served on the other interested parties on the mailing list, and to be accompanied by a proof of service. However, this requirement may also be satisfied by electronically filing your documents. Please see <u>http://www.csm.ca.gov/dropbox.shtml</u> on the Commission's website for instructions on electronic filing. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 2, § 1181.3.) If you would like to request an extension of time to file comments, please refer to section 1187.9(a) of the Commission's regulations.

The parameters and guidelines are set for hearing on March 27, 2015.

Sincerely,

Heather Halsey Executive Director

J:\MANDATES\2009\TC\09-TC-02 (Sheriff Court Security)\Correspondence\TC decision trans.docx

65

DRAFT EXPEDITED PARAMETERS AND GUIDELINES

Government Code Section 69926(b)

Statutes 2009-2010 (4th Ex. Sess.), Chapter 22

Sheriff Court-Security Services

09-TC-02

Period of reimbursement: July 28, 2009 through June 27, 2012

I. SUMMARY OF THE MANDATE

On December 5, 2014, the Commission on State Mandates (Commission) adopted a decision finding that Government Code section 69926(b), as amended by Statutes 2009-2010 (4th Ex. Sess.), chapter 22, constitutes a partial reimbursable state-mandated program within the meaning of article XIII B, section 6(c).¹ Specifically, the Commission found that the following retiree health benefit costs that had been funded under the Trial Court Funding Program before January 1, 2003, but were then shifted to the counties by the test claim statute are reimbursable from July 28, 2009 to June 27, 2012 only:

- Amounts actually paid in the claimed fiscal year to an insurer, other benefit provider, or trustee to prefund the future retiree health benefit costs earned by county employees in the claimed fiscal year who provided court security services in criminal and delinquency matters pursuant to Government Code section 69922; and
- Amounts actually paid in the claimed fiscal year to an insurer, other benefit provider, or trustee to reduce an existing unfunded liability of the county for the health benefit costs previously earned by county employees who provided court security services in criminal and delinquency matters pursuant to Government Code section 69922.

The Commission further concluded that revenue received by a county eligible to claim reimbursement from the 2011 Realignment (Gov. Code, §§ 30025, 30027; Stats. 2011, ch. 40) for this program in fiscal year 2011-2012 shall be identified and deducted as offsetting revenue from any claim for reimbursement.

II. ELIGIBLE CLAIMANTS

Any county, or city and county, that incurs increased costs as a result of this mandate is eligible to claim reimbursement. Specifically, those counties that: (1) previously included retiree health

¹ Article XIII B, section 6(c), was added to the California Constitution in 2004 to expand the definition of a new program or higher level of service as follows: "A mandated new program or higher level of service includes a transfer by the Legislature from the State to cities, counties, cities and counties, or special districts of complete or partial financial responsibility for a required program for which the State previously had complete or partial financial responsibility."

benefit costs for existing employees that provided sheriff court security services in criminal and delinquency matters in its cost for court operations and billed those costs to the state under the Trial Court Funding Program before January 1, 2003; and (2) prefunded the future retiree health benefit costs earned by county employees in the claimed fiscal year who provided court security services in criminal and delinquency matters pursuant to Government Code section 69922 or prefunded to reduce an existing unfunded liability of the county for the health benefit costs previously earned by county employees who provided court security services in criminal and delinquency matters pursuant to Government Code section 69922.

III. PERIOD OF REIMBURSEMENT

Government Code section 17557(e) states that a test claim shall be submitted on or before June 30 following a given fiscal year to establish eligibility for that fiscal year. The claimant filed the test claim on June 30, 2010, establishing eligibility for reimbursement for the 2008-2009 fiscal year. However, Government Code section 69926(b) as amended by the test claim statute (Stats. 2009-2010 (4th Ex. Sess.), ch. 22) became effective on July 28, 2009, and remained in law only until June 27, 2012, when it was repealed to implement the statutory realignment of superior court security funding by Statutes of 2011, chapter 40. Thus, the period of reimbursement for this claim is from July 28, 2009 to June 27, 2012.

Reimbursement for state-mandated costs may be claimed as follows:

- Actual costs for one fiscal year shall be included in each claim.
- Pursuant to Government Code section 17561(d)(1)(A), all claims for reimbursement of initial fiscal year costs shall be submitted to the State Controller (Controller) within 120 days of the issuance date for the claiming instructions.
- Pursuant to Government Code section 17560(a), a local agency may, by February 15 following the fiscal year in which costs were incurred, file an annual reimbursement claim that details the costs actually incurred for that fiscal year.
- If revised claiming instructions are issued by the Controller pursuant to Government Code section 17558(c), between November 15 and February 15, a local agency filing an annual reimbursement claim shall have 120 days following the issuance date of the revised claiming instructions to file a claim. (Gov. Code §17560(b).)
- If the total costs for a given fiscal year do not exceed \$1,000, no reimbursement shall be allowed except as otherwise allowed by Government Code section 17564(a).
- There shall be no reimbursement for any period in which the Legislature has suspended the operation of a mandate pursuant to state law.

IV. REIMBURSABLE COSTS PURSUANT TO ARTICLE XIII B, SECTION 6(c)

To be eligible for mandated cost reimbursement for any fiscal year, only actual costs may be claimed. Actual costs are those costs actually incurred to implement the mandated program. Actual costs must be traceable and supported by source documents that show the validity of such costs, when they were incurred, and their relationship to the reimbursable program. A source document is a document created at or near the same time the actual cost was incurred for the

event, activity, or program cost in question. Source documents may include, but are not limited to, employee time records or time logs, sign-in sheets, invoices, financial and accounting statements, and receipts.

Evidence corroborating the source documents may include, but is not limited to, worksheets, cost allocation reports (system generated), and declarations. Declarations must include a certification or declaration stating, "I certify (or declare) under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing is true and correct," and must further comply with the requirements of Code of Civil Procedure section 2015.5. Evidence corroborating the source documents may include data relevant to the reimbursable costs otherwise in compliance with local, state, and federal government requirements. However, corroborating documents cannot be substituted for source documents.

The claimant is only allowed to claim and be reimbursed for the following retiree health benefit costs for existing employees that provided sheriff court security services in criminal and delinquency matters from July 28, 2009 to June 27, 2012:

- Amounts actually paid in the claimed fiscal year to an insurer, other benefit provider, or trustee to prefund the future retiree health benefit costs earned by county employees in the claimed fiscal year who provided court security services in criminal and delinquency matters pursuant to Government Code section 69922; and
- Amounts actually paid in the claimed fiscal year to an insurer, other benefit provider, or trustee to reduce an existing unfunded liability of the county for the health benefit costs previously earned by county employees who provided court security services in criminal and delinquency matters pursuant to Government Code section 69922.

Retiree health benefit payments to <u>retirees or their beneficiaries</u> made during the period of reimbursement are not eligible for reimbursement.

V. CLAIM PREPARATION AND SUBMISSION

Each claimed reimbursable cost must be supported by source documentation as described in section IV. Additionally, each reimbursement claim must be filed in a timely manner.

A. Direct Cost Reporting

Direct costs are those costs incurred specifically for the reimbursable program. The following direct costs are eligible for reimbursement.

1. Employee Retiree Health Benefits

Report each employee providing court security services in criminal and delinquency matters during the period of reimbursement by name, job classification, and the reimbursable retiree health benefit cost incurred for that employee, as defined in section IV of these parameters and guidelines.

VI. RECORD RETENTION

Pursuant to Government Code section 17558.5(a), a reimbursement claim for actual costs filed by a county or city and county pursuant to this chapter² is subject to the initiation of an audit by the Controller no later than three years after the date that the actual reimbursement claim is filed or last amended, whichever is later. However, if no funds are appropriated or no payment is made to a claimant for the program for the fiscal year for which the claim is filed, the time for the Controller to initiate an audit shall commence to run from the date of initial payment of the claim. In any case, an audit shall be completed not later than two years after the date that the audit is commenced. All documents used to support the reimbursable costs, as described in section IV, must be retained during the period subject to audit. If an audit has been initiated by the Controller during the period subject to audit, the retention period is extended until the ultimate resolution of any audit findings.

VII. OFFSETTING REVENUES AND REIMBURSEMENTS

Revenue received by a claimant from the 2011 Realignment (Gov. Code, §§ 30025, 30027; Stats. 2011, ch. 40) for this program and used by the claimant to pre-fund the costs of retiree health benefits of existing employees providing sheriff court security services in criminal and delinquency matters shall be identified and deducted as offsetting revenue from any claim for reimbursement.

Any other offsetting revenue the claimant experiences in the same program as a result of the same statutes or executive orders found to contain the mandate shall be deducted from the costs claimed. In addition, reimbursement for this mandate from any source, including but not limited to, service fees collected, federal funds, and other state funds, shall be identified and deducted from this claim.

VIII. STATE CONTROLLER'S CLAIMING INSTRUCTIONS

Pursuant to Government Code section 17558(b), the Controller shall issue claiming instructions for each mandate that requires state reimbursement not later than 90 days after receiving the adopted parameters and guidelines from the Commission, to assist a local agency in claiming costs to be reimbursed. The claiming instructions shall be derived from these parameters and guidelines and the decisions on the test claim and parameters and guidelines adopted by the Commission.

Pursuant to Government Code section 17561(d)(1), issuance of the claiming instructions shall constitute a notice of the right of a local agency to file reimbursement claims, based upon parameters and guidelines adopted by the Commission.

IX. REMEDIES BEFORE THE COMMISSION

Upon request of a local agency, the Commission shall review the claiming instructions issued by the Controller or any other authorized state agency for reimbursement of mandated costs pursuant to Government Code section 17571. If the Commission determines that the claiming instructions do not conform to the parameters and guidelines, the Commission shall direct the

² This refers to title 2, division 4, part 7, chapter 4 of the Government Code.

Controller to modify the claiming instructions and the Controller shall modify the claiming instructions to conform to the parameters and guidelines as directed by the Commission.

In addition, requests may be made to amend parameters and guidelines pursuant to Government Code section 17557(d), and California Code of Regulations, title 2, section 1183.17.

X. LEGAL AND FACTUAL BASIS FOR THE PARAMETERS AND GUIDELINES

The decisions adopted for the test claim and parameters and guidelines are legally binding on all parties and provide the legal and factual basis for the parameters and guidelines. The support for the legal and factual findings is found in the administrative record. The administrative record is on file with the Commission.

DECLARATION OF SERVICE BY EMAIL

I, the undersigned, declare as follows:

I am a resident of the County of Solano and I am over the age of 18 years, and not a party to the within action. My place of employment is 980 Ninth Street, Suite 300, Sacramento, California 95814.

On December 12, 2014, I served the:

Test Claim Decision, Draft Expedited Parameters and Guidelines, and Notice of Hearing *Sheriff Court-Security Services*, 09-TC-02 Government Code Sections 69920 et al. County of Los Angeles, Claimant

by making it available on the Commission's website and providing notice of how to locate it to the email addresses provided on the attached mailing list.

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing is true and correct, and that this declaration was executed on December 12, 2014 at Sacramento, California.

Zablik

Heidi J. Palchik Commission on State Mandates 980 Ninth Street, Suite 300 Sacramento, CA 95814 (916) 323-3562

COMMISSION ON STATE MANDATES

Mailing List

Last Updated: 11/19/14

Claim Number: 09-TC-02

Matter: Sheriff Court-Security Services

Claimant: County of Los Angeles

TO ALL PARTIES, INTERESTED PARTIES, AND INTERESTED PERSONS:

Each commission mailing list is continuously updated as requests are received to include or remove any party or person on the mailing list. A current mailing list is provided with commission correspondence, and a copy of the current mailing list is available upon request at any time. Except as provided otherwise by commission rule, when a party or interested party files any written material with the commission concerning a claim, it shall simultaneously serve a copy of the written material on the parties and interested parties to the claim identified on the mailing list provided by the commission. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 2, § 1181.3.)

Socorro Aquino, State Controller's Office Division of Audits, 3301 C Street, Suite 700, Sacramento, CA 95816 Phone: (916) 322-7522 SAquino@sco.ca.gov

Harmeet Barkschat, *Mandate Resource Services,LLC* 5325 Elkhorn Blvd. #307, Sacramento, CA 95842 Phone: (916) 727-1350 harmeet@calsdrc.com

Lacey Baysinger, State Controller's Office Division of Accounting and Reporting, 3301 C Street, Suite 700, Sacramento, CA 95816 Phone: (916) 324-0254 Ibaysinger@sco.ca.gov

Allan Burdick, 7525 Myrtle Vista Avenue, Sacramento, CA 95831 Phone: (916) 203-3608 allanburdick@gmail.com

J. Bradley Burgess, *MGT of America* 895 La Sierra Drive, Sacramento, CA 95864 Phone: (916)595-2646 Bburgess@mgtamer.com

Michael Byrne, *Department of Finance* 915 L Street, 8th Floor, Sacramento, CA 95814 Phone: (916) 445-3274 michael.byrne@dof.ca.gov

Gwendolyn Carlos, *State Controller's Office* Division of Accounting and Reporting, 3301 C Street, Suite 700, Sacramento, CA 95816 Phone: (916) 323-0706 gcarlos@sco.ca.gov

Curtis Child, Chief Operating Officer, *Judicial Council of California* 2860 Gateway Oaks Drive, Suite 400, Sacramento, CA 95833 Phone: (916) 643-7030 curtis.child@jud.ca.gov

Annette Chinn, Cost Recovery Systems,Inc. 705-2 East Bidwell Street, #294, Folsom, CA 95630 Phone: (916) 939-7901 achinners@aol.com

Marieta Delfin, *State Controller's Office* Division of Accounting and Reporting, 3301 C Street, Suite 700, Sacramento, CA 95816 Phone: (916) 322-4320 mdelfin@sco.ca.gov

Tom Dyer, *Department of Finance (A-15)* 915 L Street, Sacramento, CA 95814 Phone: (916) 445-3274 tom.dyer@dof.ca.gov

Eric Feller, Commission on State Mandates 980 9th Street, Suite 300, Sacramento, CA 95814 Phone: (916) 323-3562 eric.feller@csm.ca.gov

Donna Ferebee, *Department of Finance* 915 L Street, Suite 1280, Sacramento, CA 95814 Phone: (916) 445-3274 donna.ferebee@dof.ca.gov

Susan Geanacou, *Department of Finance* 915 L Street, Suite 1280, Sacramento, CA 95814 Phone: (916) 445-3274 susan.geanacou@dof.ca.gov

Michael Giden, Supervision Attorney, *Judicial Council of California* 2255 North Ontario Street, Suite 220, Burbank, CA 91504 Phone: (818) 558-4802 michael.giden@jud.ca.gov

Dorothy Holzem, *California Special Districts Association* 1112 I Street, Suite 200, Sacramento, CA 95814 Phone: (916) 442-7887 dorothyh@csda.net

Martin Hoshino, Administrative Director, *Judicial Council of California* 455 Golden Gate Avenue, San Francisco, CA 94102 Phone: (415) 865-4200 martin.hoshino@jud.ca.gov

Mark Ibele, Senate Budget & Fiscal Review Committee California State Senate, State Capitol Room 5019, Sacramento, CA 95814 Phone: (916) 651-4103 Mark.Ibele@sen.ca.gov

Edward Jewik, County of Los Angeles Claimant Representative Auditor-Controller's Office, 500 W. Temple Street, Room 603, Los Angeles, CA 90012 Phone: (213) 974-8564 ejewik@auditor.lacounty.gov

Ferlyn Junio, *Nimbus Consulting Group,LLC* 2386 Fair Oaks Boulevard, Suite 104, Sacramento, CA 95825 Phone: (916) 480-9444 fjunio@nimbusconsultinggroup.com

Jill Kanemasu, State Controller's Office Division of Accounting and Reporting, 3301 C Street, Suite 700, Sacramento, CA 95816 Phone: (916) 322-9891 jkanemasu@sco.ca.gov

Anita Kerezsi, *AK & Company* 3531 Kersey Lane, Sacramento, CA 95864 Phone: (916) 972-1666 akcompany@um.att.com

Jean Kinney Hurst, Senior Legislative Representative, Revenue & Taxation, *California State Association of Counties (CSAC)* 1100 K Street, Suite 101, Sacramento, CA 95814-3941 Phone: (916) 327-7500 jhurst@counties.org

Jay Lal, State Controller's Office (B-08) Division of Accounting & Reporting, 3301 C Street, Suite 700, Sacramento, CA 95816 Phone: (916) 324-0256 JLal@sco.ca.gov

Kathleen Lynch, Department of Finance (A-15) 915 L Street, Suite 1280, 17th Floor, Sacramento, CA 95814 Phone: (916) 445-3274 kathleen.lynch@dof.ca.gov

Hortensia Mato, *City of Newport Beach* 100 Civic Center Drive, Newport Beach, CA 92660 Phone: (949) 644-3000 hmato@newportbeachca.gov

Martin Mayer, *California State Sheriffs' Association* 3777 North Harbor Boulevard, Fullerton, CA 92835 Phone: (714) 446-1400 mjm@jones-mayer.com

Michelle Mendoza, MAXIMUS

17310 Red Hill Avenue, Suite 340, Irvine, CA 95403 Phone: (949) 440-0845 michellemendoza@maximus.com

Meredith Miller, Director of SB90 Services, *MAXIMUS* 3130 Kilgore Road, Suite 400, Rancho Cordova, CA 95670 Phone: (972) 490-9990 meredithcmiller@maximus.com

John Naimo, Acting Auditor-Controller, *County of Los Angeles* Auditor-Controller, 500 West Temple Street, Room 525, Los Angeles, CA 90012 Phone: (213) 974-8302 jnaimo@auditor.lacounty.gov

Geoffrey Neill, Senior Legislative Analyst, Revenue & Taxation, *California State Association of Counties (CSAC)* 1100 K Street, Suite 101, Sacramento, CA 95814 Phone: (916) 327-7500 gneill@counties.org

Andy Nichols, Nichols Consulting 1857 44th Street, Sacramento, CA 95819 Phone: (916) 455-3939 andy@nichols-consulting.com

Marianne O'Malley, Legislative Analyst's Office (B-29) 925 L Street, Suite 1000, Sacramento, CA 95814 Phone: (916) 319-8315 marianne.O'malley@lao.ca.gov

Arthur Palkowitz, *Stutz Artiano Shinoff & Holtz* 2488 Historic Decatur Road, Suite 200, San Diego, CA 92106 Phone: (619) 232-3122 apalkowitz@sashlaw.com

Anita Peden, County of Sacramento 711 G Street, Room 405, Sacramento, CA 95814 Phone: (916) 874-8441 apeden@sacsheriff.com

Jai Prasad, County of San Bernardino Office of Auditor-Controller, 222 West Hospitality Lane, 4th Floor, San Bernardino, CA 92415-0018 Phone: (909) 386-8854 jai.prasad@atc.sbcounty.gov

Mark Rewolinski, *MAXIMUS* 625 Coolidge Drive, Suite 100, Folsom, CA 95630 Phone: (949) 440-0845 markrewolinski@maximus.com

Kathy Rios, *State Controller's Office* Division of Accounting and Reporting, 3301 C Street, Suite 700, Sacramento, CA 95816 Phone: (916) 324-5919 krios@sco.ca.gov

Lee Scott, Department of Finance 15 L Street, 8th Floor, Sacramento, CA 95814 Phone: (916) 445-3274 lee.scott@dof.ca.gov

Camille Shelton, *Commission on State Mandates* 980 9th Street, Suite 300, Sacramento, CA 95814 Phone: (916) 323-3562 camille.shelton@csm.ca.gov

Wayne Shimabukuro, County of San Bernardino

Auditor/Controller-Recorder-Treasurer-Tax Collector, 222 West Hospitality Lane, 4th Floor, San Bernardino, CA 92415-0018 Phone: (909) 386-8850 wayne.shimabukuro@atc.sbcounty.gov

Jim Spano, Chief, Mandated Cost Audits Bureau, *State Controller's Office* Division of Audits, 3301 C Street, Suite 700, Sacramento, CA 95816 Phone: (916) 323-5849 jspano@sco.ca.gov

Dennis Speciale, *State Controller's Office* Division of Accounting and Reporting, 3301 C Street, Suite 700, Sacramento, CA 95816 Phone: (916) 324-0254 DSpeciale@sco.ca.gov

Laura Speed, Assistant Director, *Judicial Council of California* Governmental Affairs, 2860 Gateway Oaks Drive, Suite 400, Sacramento, CA 95833 Phone: (916) 323-3121 laura.speed@jud.ca.gov

Meg Svoboda, Senate Office of Research 1020 N Street, Suite 200, Sacramento, CA Phone: (916) 651-1500 meg.svoboda@sen.ca.gov

Jolene Tollenaar, *MGT of America* 2001 P Street, Suite 200, Suite 200, Sacramento, CA 95811 Phone: (916) 443-9136 jolene_tollenaar@mgtamer.com

Evelyn Tseng, *City of Newport Beach* 100 Civic Center Drive, Newport Beach, CA 92660 Phone: (949) 644-3127 etseng@newportbeachca.gov

Brian Uhler, *Legislative Analyst's Office* 925 L Street, Suite 1000, Sacramento, CA 95814 Phone: (916) 319-8328 brian.uhler@lao.ca.gov

Renee Wellhouse, *David Wellhouse & Associates, Inc.* 3609 Bradshaw Road, H-382, Sacramento, CA 95927

Phone: (916) 797-4883 dwa-renee@surewest.net

Hasmik Yaghobyan, County of Los Angeles Auditor-Controller's Office, 500 W. Temple Street, Room 603, Los Angeles, CA 90012 Phone: (213) 974-9653 hyaghobyan@auditor.lacounty.gov